Strategic sites committee agenda
Date:

Thursday 1 October 2020

Time:

2.00 pm

Venue:

MS Teams

Membership:
S Broadbent, N Brown, S Chhokar, C Clare, P Jones, J Jordan, L Monger, R Newcombe,
C Paternoster, G Sandy, A Turner (Chairman) and J Waters (Vice-Chairman)

Webcasting notice
Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the council's
website. At the start of the meeting the chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is
being filmed.
You should be aware that the council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.
Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the council’s
published policy.
Therefore by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.
If members of the public do not wish to have their image captured they should ask the
committee clerk, who will advise where to sit.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the monitoring officer at
monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk.
Agenda Item
1

Apologies for absence

2

Declarations of interest

3

Minutes
To agree the minutes of the strategic sites committee meeting held on
3 September 2020.

Page No

3-6

Applications
4

CM/0022/20 Olleco, Samian Way, Aston Clinton

7 - 144

5

18/02495/APP Land to the south of Aston Clinton Road, Weston
Turville

145 - 188

6

CM/0018/20 Bletchley Landfill Site, Guernsey Road, Newton Leys,
Milton Keynes

189 - 202

If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of
a disability, please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support
in place.
For further information please contact: Charlie Griffin on 01494 732011, email
democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk.

Agenda Item 3

Strategic sites committee minutes
Minutes of the meeting of the Strategic sites committee held on Thursday 3 September
2020 by virtual conference commencing at 2.00 pm and concluding at 5.21 pm.

Members present
S Broadbent, S Chhokar, C Clare, P Jones, J Jordan, R Newcombe, C Paternoster, G Sandy,
A Turner and J Waters

Apologies
N Brown and L Monger

Agenda Item
1

Declarations of interest
Councillor J Jordan declared a personal interest in application PL/19/4430/FA as she
had attended screenings at Pinewood Studios in capacity as Conservative group
chairman for the Ivers, and met a Director of the applicant company, but does not
have a close association with him and did not have a prejudicial interest.
Councillor S Broadbent declared a personal interest in application PL/19/4430/FA.
Councillor Broadbent knows of the applicant through his capacity as a board
member of the Buckinghamshire Local Enterprise Partnership. Councillor Broadbent
does not have a close association with him and did not have a prejudicial interest.
Councillor C Paternoster declared a personal interest in application CM/0022/20 as a
member of Buckland Parish Council who had objected to this application. Councillor
Paternoster spoke on the application as local unitary ward member, and left the
meeting whilst the committee considered and decided upon the application.

2

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting 6 August were agreed as correct record.

3

PL/19/4430/FA Sevenhills Road and part of Southlands and Pinewood Roads, to
the north & east of Pinewood Studios, Iver Heath
Proposal: realignment, resurfacing and improvement works, with associated
landscaping and engineering works to Sevenhills Road, Iver Heath. Additional
vehicular access to Pinewood Studios site.
The planning officer updated section 6 of her report on the planning balance and

Page 3

overall assessment of issues for the benefit of members. Members noted that there
had been an update to conditions since the report’s publication. Conditions 6, 7, and
8 had been revised to reflect amended drawings received by the planning officer on
the 9 June.
Speaking as local unitary ward member, Councillor Luisa Sullivan.
Speaking as representative of Iver Parish Council, Carole Gibson.
Speaking as an objector, Aman Kular.
Speaking as the applicant and agent team, Andrew Smith, Sara Dutfield and James
Bevis.
It was proposed by Councillor J Jordan, seconded by Councillor P Jones and resolved:

4



to delegate the application to the Director of Planning and Environment to
grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out in this report and
any others which he considers appropriate; and



subject to the amendment of condition 15 that the content of the landscape
and ecological management plan (LEMP) be updated to reflect that if re
provision of new planting is required within the 5 year period from planning
consent, the work plan is capable of being rolled forward over a five-year
period from re provision of new planting; and



to the satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Agreement to secure the
requirements as set out in this report.



Authority delegated to the Director of Planning and Environment to refuse
permission, for such reasons as he considers appropriate, if a satisfactory
s.106 Agreement cannot be completed.

CC/0035/20 Maids Moreton Church of England School, Avenue Road, Maids
Moreton
Proposed front and rear single storey extensions and external alterations to include
extension to play area to existing school.
Speaking on behalf of the applicant, agent team, Paula Campbell-Balcombe and
Jonathan Holland.
It was proposed by Councillor C Clare, seconded by Councillor J Jordan and resolved:


5

to grant planning permission subject to the conditions indicated in Section 7
and finalised by the Service Director Planning and Environment.

CM/0022/20 Olleco, Samian Way, Aston Clinton
Proposal: section 73 planning application relating to condition 9 pursuant to
planning application CM/78/14.

Page 4

Members noted the amended recommendation which read:
Subject to the applicant entering in to an appropriate S. 106 Planning Obligation to
apply the requirements with regard to routeing and the catchment area for the
collection of waste the Strategic Sites Committee INDICATES SUPPORT for application
CM/0022/20 with the imposition of an alternative condition 9 being as proposed in
the application and to the other existing conditions attached to planning permission
CM/78/14 with any amendments to reflect the subsequent discharge of conditions
and to condition 18 being amended to read as follows:
Within 3 months of the date of this planning consent an update to the existing Odour
Management Strategy (Approved 17th September 2015) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The updated strategy shall include
reference to the following aspects:
•
Specific odour sources within the waste streams presented in the Anaerobic
Digestion Facility and Materials Recycling Facility , respectively
•
Measures in place at the site in order to identify , isolate and/or restrict
inherently odorous waste streams
•
Any additional odour control strategies and/or features that have been
implemented following the approval of the existing Odour Management Strategy
(Approved 17th September 2015)
The updated Odour Management Strategy shall be implemented thereafter in
accordance with the approved details for the duration of the development.
And DELEGATES Authority to the Service Director for Planning and Environment to
determine the Application.
Speaking as local unitary ward member, Councillor Carole Paternoster.
A written statement was read out by the Democratic Services Officer on behalf of
representative of Buckland Parish Council, Nigel Hayward.
A written statement was read out by the Democratic Services Officer on behalf of
objector Sue Gillingham.
Speaking as the applicant and agent team, Stephen Weston, Ciara O’Donovan and
Alistair Flatman.
It was proposed by Councillor S Chhokar, seconded by Councillor J Waters and
resolved:


to defer the application to allow the applicant to provide further information
to reassure the committee that the issue of odour would not be exacerbated
by this application. The committee would welcome reports of odour in and
around the site from Olleco.

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6

Agenda Item 4

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Update Report to Strategic Planning Committee
Application Number:

CM/0022/20

Proposal:

Section 73 planning application relating to Condition 9 pursuant to planning
application CM/78/14 at Anaerobic Digestion Plant, Samian Way, Aston Clinton
operated by Olleco.

Site Location:

Olleco (Aylesbury Dairy)
Samian Way
Aston Clinton
Buckinghamshire
HP22 5WJ

Applicant:
Case Officer:
Ward(s) affected:

Olleco
Mitchel Pugh
Aston Clinton, Bierton

Parish-Town Council:

Aston Clinton Parish Council/Buckland Parish Council

Date valid application 11th May 2020
received:
Statutory determination 9th October 2020
date:
Recommendation
Subject to the applicant entering in to an appropriate S. 106 Planning Obligation
to apply the requirements with regard to routeing and the catchment area for
the collection of waste the Strategic Sites Committee INDICATES SUPPORT for
application CM/0022/20 with the imposition of an alternative condition 9 being
as proposed in the application and to the other existing conditions attached to
planning permission CM/78/14 with any amendments to reflect the subsequent
discharge of conditions and to condition 18 being amended to read as follows:
Within 3 months of the date of this planning consent an update to the existing
Odour Management Strategy (Approved 17th September 2015) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The updated
strategy shall include reference to the following aspects:
•
Specific odour sources within the waste streams presented in the
Anaerobic Digestion Facility and Materials Recycling Facility , respectively
•
Measures in place at the site in order to identify , isolate and/or restrict
inherently odorous waste streams
•
Any additional odour control strategies and/or features that have been
implemented following the approval of the existing Odour Management
Strategy (Approved 17th September 2015)
The updated Odour Management Strategy shall be implemented thereafter in
accordance with the approved details for the duration of the development

Page 7

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

1.0

Introduction

1.1

Application CM/0022/20 seeks permission to carry out the development permitted under
Planning Consent CM/78/14 at Olleco, Samian Way, Aston Clinton, HP22 5WJ without
complying with condition 9 attached thereto. The effect of the application is to increase the
scope of the permitted waste stream sources set out within Condition 9 of CM/78/14; the
proposed amendments act to distinguish the waste streams of the Anaerobic Digestion Plant
and Materials Recycling Facility respectively.
Operational changes,
including vehicle movements and annual throughput, are not
proposed to change as part of this planning application.
The application was deferred by committee on 3rd September 2020 to allow for the applicant
to submit further information to address concerns regarding the odour impact of the
proposal. The September 3rd report is attached to this report at Appendix A.
Updated Information
On the 17th September 2020 , the Applicant (Olleco) provided the Council with the following
documents;
Odour Tour Logs + Methodology – April – June 2020 and Sept 2019
Odour Complaint log – July 2020
EA Update September 2020
Ricardo Odour Assessment – Jan 2019
These documents are attached to this report at the following appendices;
Odour Tour Logs/Methodology (Appendix B)
Odour Complaint log (Appendix C)
EA Update (Appendix D)
Ricardo Odour Assessment (Appendix E)

1.2
1.3

2.0
2.1

2.2

2.3

3.0
3.1

In addition to these aforementioned submissions, the Applicant has also provided copies of
several emails; 2 emails between Buckinghamshire Council and the Applicant dated the 1st
April 2020 (Appendix F) and 22nd April 2020 (Appendix G), respectively. A further email
outlining correspondence between the Applicant and Buckland Parish Council, dated 14th
October 2019 (Appendix H), was also provided.
The Applicant has also provided a covering letter summarising the additional submissions,
this letter is attached to the report at (Appendix I).
Evaluation
The emails provided at Appendix F & G display initial conversations between the Council and
the applicant in respect of the changes proposed within application CM/0022/20. The
applicant suggests that these emails are material in the determination of the relevant
application. Upon inspection of these emails, whilst their content falls to be relevant to the
submission of the application, the emails are not considered to be of sufficient materiality in
the consideration of the application. Members should be minded that at the receipt of an
application the subsequent determination of that application must be conducted in
accordance with our duty set out in Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase

Page 8

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Act 2004, which states;

3.2

where in making any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to
the development plan, the determination shall be made in accordance with the plan
unless material consideration indicates otherwise.
The email attached at Appendix H , displays communication between the Applicant and
Buckland Parish Council (BPC) on the 14th October 2019. The email moves largely to establish
that there is a dialogue between the Applicant and BPC. The email is not considered to be
material in the consideration of the proposed development against the relevant
development plan.

3.3

The additional documentation supplied by the applicant, attached at Appendices B-E, form as
a body of odour evidence. Appendices B, C & D outline the odour assessments, internally
and externally, during the relevant period of this application’s determination. Appendix E
comprises an external odour assessment from January 2019; whilst this falls outside of the
aforementioned relevant period, members may find this document materially useful in
considering the baseline for odour at the site as it exists currently (as permitted by
CM/78/14).

3.4
3.4.1

Odour Tour Logs and Sniff Test Methodology (Appendix B)
The documentation provided at Appendix B sets out the site’s current approach to daily
olfactory assessment (Sniff Testing) at the site. The methodology provided establishes the
following;
 Sniff Tests are conducted twice a day (Mon-Fri) and once a day on Saturday, if
the site is accepting waste.
 An external assessor will conduct the daily Sniff Tests, however if an external
person is not available a member of the on-site operational staff will conduct
the tests.
 Sniff Test measurements are taken at 15 points; 10 within the operational site
boundary and 5 off site.
 A measurement will be taken at each monitoring location and a score between
0-6 will be recorded;
0 - No odour (no odour can be detected)
1 - Very faint odour (only detectable if you specifically sniff for it)
2 - Faint odour (detectable if you casually sniff for it)
3 - Distinct odour (detectable by just standing there normally)
4 - Strong odour (unavoidable odour)
5 - Very strong odour (likely to leave lingering smell on clothes, or
lingering taste)
6 - Extremely strong odour (likely to causes immediate physical
symptoms such as nausea, sore throat and headaches)
In the application of the methodology set out above, it is possible to inspect the Sniff Tour
logs (April- June 2020 & September 2019) and interpret the results; whilst records for
September 2019 were provided, the analysis within this report will focus on records collected

3.4.2

Page 9

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

between April –June 2020 as these are considered to be of greater materiality in the
determination of the application. In addition to an overall analysis of these results , it is
important to give additional focus to those monitoring points present at the peripheries of
the site and those outside of the operational site boundary , as these points may give greater
inferences as to the transient nature of any odours detected; the peripheral and external
monitoring points are comprised of points 1,2,3,4,5,7,8,9,10,12,13,14&15. Please see figures
1&2 below for the locations of all 15 Sniff Test Monitoring Points.

Figure 1. Daily Odour Monitoring Positions (Internal)

Page 10

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Figure 2. Daily Odour Monitoring Positions (External)
3.4.3

3.4.5

3.4.6

For the month of April 2020, 21 daily (one-two per day) records were provided. With
exceptions on the 7th and 8th April where scores of 4 were recorded , the month of April
presented a general range of odour scores between 0-3; No odour (0) to Distinct odour (3)
For the month of May 2020, 19 daily (one-two per day) records were provided. With
exception of the 28th May where a score of 5 was recorded at monitoring point 4 (Western
periphery of the site), the month of May presented a general range of odour scores between
0-4; No odour (0) to Strong odour (4)
For the month of June 2020, 22 daily (one-two per day) records were provided. With
exceptions on the 15th and 19th June where scores of 5 were recorded , the month of June
presented a general range of odour scores between 0-4; No odour (0) to Strong odour (4).

3.5
3.5.1

Odour Complaint Log –July 2020 (Appendix C)
The document provided at Appendix C outlines odour complaints received by Olleco during
July 2020. This document was submitted alongside the initial committee report (Appendix A)
and its content was addressed in an addendum to that report; the addendum is attached to
this report at Appendix J.

3.6
3.6.1

Environment Agency Update September 2020 (Appendix D)
The document provided at Appendix D outlines the position of the Environment Agency (EA)
in their position as regulator of the site’s Environmental Permit.
The document forms to be a regulatory statement, covering the involvement of the EA
between 2018 – September 2020.

3.6.2

Page 11

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

3.6.3

The document sets out the site’s level of compliance during this period and states the
following;
No non-compliances of this permit have been recorded since April 2018. We have
visited the site 16 times since then to check that the plant is operating normally and to
assess the level of odour on-site and offsite.
In 2019 we conducted 4 inspections of the site. No non-compliances were found and
the site was rated in compliance band A.
In 2020 we have conducted 3 inspections of the site to date. No non-compliances have
been found and the site is currently rated in compliance band A. Since June we have
carried out 5 odour surveys and have not detected any odours at a level we consider to
be unacceptable.

3.7
3.7.1

Ricardo Odour Assessment- January 2019 (Appendix E)
The document provided at Appendix E comprises a 2019 Odour Assessment that sought to
measure the presence of Hydrogen Sulphide. The assessment was undertaken by Ricardo
(External Consultants) , which utilised a Jerome J605 Gold film hydrogen sulphide analyser.
The Jerome J605 was located at a residential property to the north of the site. The odour
threshold of Hydrogen Sulphide is 0.5 parts per billion (ppb). The findings of the assessment
concluded that the property would likely have experienced a very low intensity odour during
the two monitoring periods. Readings were taken during the following periods;
 Between 22:00 on 23rd January and 00:00 on 24th January; and
 Between 09:45 and 12:25 on 24th January

3.7.2

In the summary of these findings, the assessment does move to suggest that there may be
additional odour sources, other than those arising from the Olleco facility, responsible for the
odours present at the assessment site.

3.8
3.8.1

Effect of the additional submissions
When considering the effect of the additional submissions, moderate weight is applied to the
submissions found at Appendices B & D as opposed to some weight applied to Appendices
C&E and the no weight applied to Appendices F,G&H ; this allocation of moderate weight is
twofold, firstly these documents are considered to largely address the general spirit of the
Committee’s deferral rationale and secondly as they move to outline an objective baseline
odour assessment of the site during the relevant period of determination of application
CM/0022/20.
Whilst odour scores that are generally unacceptable are observed within the provided logs,
4-5, a significant majority of odour scores across the 3 relevant months fall within 0-3. In
isolation, scores of this level are can generally be considered as acceptable and unlikely to
give rise to a significant detriment towards local amenity. However if odours scored at 2-3
were to persist for substantial periods of time within a fixed location, moderate harm to
amenity within that locality may arise. The scores provided in the logs do identify typically
unacceptable scores at peripheral monitoring points, however no scores greater than 3 are
recorded at external monitoring points.
The Environment Agency , as result of their regulation of the site , consider that the site has

3.8.2

3.8.3

Page 12

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

3.8.4

3.8.5

not , at any one period of inspection between April 2018 and September 2020 , presented
any contravention of the environmental permit nor have they found odours at or around the
site that would be deemed unacceptable. This metric of (un)acceptability is key in
understanding the nature of the odour baseline of the development as currently permitted
(CM/78/14) but also may be applied to the development as proposed (CM/0022/20) due to
retrospective elements of the application; acceptance of domestic food waste sources since
April 2020.
Whilst weight is being applied to the regulatory position of the EA, it is important to
remember that the consideration of odour falls differently within the planning system. In the
specific context of this application, regard is given to odour in relation to its impact upon
amenity (Policy 16 of the Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan), whereas the
permitting regime will assess odour more akin to an objective pollution assessment; applying
the ‘as low as reasonably practicable’ (ALARP) principle as opposed to the infinitely more
subjective measurement of amenity applied in the planning process. In acceptance of these
distinctions , weight is still applied to analogous regulatory position due to consistency of
acceptable assessments provided by the EA.
Accepting the odour baseline context provided by the additional submissions, consideration
of the proposed changes falls to ascertain whether the proposed diversification of food (and
associated) waste sources would likely result in a significant odour impact. In the addressing
of this particular matter, reference is again given to the Environmental Health consultation
response provided alongside the initial report , which states;
Having reviewed the planning application with regard to the variation of Condition 9
pursuant to planning application CM/0022/20, I would advise as follows from an
Environmental Health point of view.
This facility is regulated under permit from the Environment Agency who would deal
with odour emissions from the premises and complaints. With regard to the proposal
to include general waste and packaging from businesses operating within Use Classes
A3 and A5, I am satisfied that the Anaerobic Digestion Plant and associated
equipment is capable of handling these types of materials efficiently without causing
excessive odours in the area that are likely to amount to a statutory nuisance. The
food that is to be collected from premises in Use Classes A3 and A5 in my opinion have
no additional adverse impacts on the plant’s inherent ability to process the materials
collected.

3.8.6

It is clear from the general facilities specifications and Olleco’s technical knowledge of
this industry that it will be operated safely and within industry good practice
guidelines.
This memo does not include comments relating to air quality and contaminated land,
where relevant, these comments will be provided separately.
The Environmental Health response, provided above, supports the notion that as the
proposed development is of materially similar character to the development as currently
approved, any odour impacts arising from the development as proposed would likely be

Page 13

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

adequately controlled by the existing management features/strategy. The additional
documentation provided, particularly Appendix D, also moves to support this position.
3.8.7

In order to ensure parity between the proposed development and the existing odour
management strategy , the recommendation in the previous committee report included the
following ;
Within 3 months of the date of this planning consent an update to the existing Odour
Management Strategy (Approved 17th September 2015) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The updated strategy shall include
reference to the following aspects:
 Specific odour sources within the waste streams presented in the Anaerobic
Digestion Facility and Materials Recycling Facility , respectively
 Measures in place at the site in order to identify , isolate and/or restrict
inherently odorous waste streams
 Any additional odour control strategies and/or features that have been
implemented following the approval of the existing Odour Management
Strategy (Approved 17th September 2015)
The updated Odour Management Strategy shall be implemented thereafter in
accordance with the approved details for the duration of the development.

3.9

In summary, following analysis of the additional information provided a contextual baseline
of current odour levels at the site has been formed. This objective baseline, considered to be
generally acceptable in respect of local amenity, is mainly applied to the development as
currently permitted but can be extrapolated to the development as proposed due to the
retrospective elements of the application. On balance, the additional documentation does
not provide any basis to deviate from the recommendation set out in the addendum to the
initial committee report on the 3rd September 2020. The changes proposed within the
application are not considered to result in an adverse odour impact of their own volition.

4.0
4.1

Equality and Diversity Issues
In writing this report due regard has been taken of the need to eliminate unlawful
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity between
different groups and foster good relations between different groups. It is not however
considered that any issues with regard thereto are raised in relation to consideration of this
application.

5.0
5.1

Conclusion
Application CM/0022/20 seeks permission to carry out the development permitted under
Planning Consent CM/78/14 at Olleco, Samian Way, Aston Clinton, HP22 5WJ without
complying with condition 9 attached thereto. The effect of the application is to amend the
scope of the permitted waste stream set out within Condition 9 of CM/78/14; the proposed
amendments act to distinguish the waste streams of the Anaerobic Digestion Plant and
Materials Recycling Facility respectively.

Page 14

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

5.2

The application was deferred by committee on 3rd September 2020 to allow for the applicant
to submit further information to address concerns regarding the odour impact of the
proposal. In response to this the applicant engaged actively with the Planning Authority to
interpret the deferral rationale and as a result submitted the following documentation;
Odour Tour Logs + Methodology – April – June 2020 and Sept 2019
Odour Complaint log – July 2020
EA Update September 2020
Ricardo Odour Assessment – Jan 2019
Emails Dated 14th October 2019
Emails Dated1st April 2020
Emails 22nd April 2020
Covering letter

5.3

5.4

The additional submissions do act to provide an objective measurement of odour at the site.
In the assessment of this objective measurement, the anticipated odour impact of the
proposed development is likely to be generally acceptable. This assumption is based, in part,
on the efficiency of the existing odour management system.
Therefore, it is recommended that planning permission be granted for the proposed
development subject to the applicant entering in to an appropriate S. 106 Planning
Obligation to apply the requirements with regard to routeing and the catchment area for the
collection of waste the Strategic Sites Committee INDICATES SUPPORT for application
CM/0022/20 with the imposition of an alternative condition 9 being as proposed in the
application and to the other existing conditions attached to planning permission CM/78/14
with any amendments to reflect the subsequent discharge of conditions and to condition 18
being amended to read as follows:
Within 3 months of the date of this planning consent an update to the existing Odour
Management Strategy (Approved 17th September 2015) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The updated strategy shall include
reference to the following aspects:
•
Specific odour sources within the waste streams presented in the Anaerobic
Digestion Facility and Materials Recycling Facility , respectively
•
Measures in place at the site in order to identify , isolate and/or restrict
inherently odorous waste streams
•
Any additional odour control strategies and/or features that have been
implemented following the approval of the existing Odour Management Strategy
(Approved 17th September 2015)
The updated Odour Management Strategy shall be implemented thereafter in
accordance with the approved details for the duration of the development.

Page 15

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

List of Appendices

Appendix A- Committee Report September 3rd 2020 (CM/0022/20)
Appendix B- Odour Tour Logs (April – June 2020 & September 2019)& Sniff Test
Methodology
Appendix C- Odour Complaint Log (July 2020)
Appendix D- Environment Agency Update (September 2020)
Appendix E- Ricardo Odour Assessment (January 2019)
Appendix F- Emails between Applicant and Buckinghamshire Council (Dated April 1st 2020)
Appendix G- Emails between Applicant and Buckinghamshire Council (Dated April 22 nd 2020)
Appendix H- Email from Applicant to Buckland Parish Council (Dated October 14 th 2019)
Appendix I- Applicant Covering Letter
Appendix J- Addendum to Committee Report September 3rd 2020 (CM/0022/20)

Page 16

Appendix A

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Report to Strategic Sites Committee
Application Number:

CM/0022/20

Proposal:

Section 73 planning application relating to Condition 9
pursuant to planning application CM/78/14 at Anaerobic
Digestion Plant, Samian Way, Aston Clinton operated by
Olleco.

Site Location:

Olleco (Aylesbury Dairy)
Samian Way
Aston Clinton
Buckinghamshire
HP22 5WJ

Applicant:
Case Officer:
Ward(s) affected:

Olleco
Mitchel Pugh
Aston Clinton, Bierton

Parish-Town Council:

Aston Clinton Parish Council/Buckland Parish Council

Date valid application received:
Statutory determination date:
Recommendation

11th May 2020
7th September 2020
Subject to the applicant entering in to an appropriate S. 106
Planning Obligation to apply the requirements with regard to
routeing and the catchment area for the collection of waste
the Strategic Sites Committee INDICATES SUPPORT for
application CM/0022/20 with the imposition of an
alternative condition 9 being as proposed in the application
and to the other existing conditions attached to planning
permission CM/78/14 with any amendments to reflect the
subsequent discharge of conditions and DELEGATES
Authority to the Service Director for Planning and
Environment to determine the Application.

1.0

Introduction

1.1

Application CM/0022/20 seeks permission to carry out the development permitted under
Planning Consent CM/78/14 at Olleco, Samian Way, Aston Clinton, HP22 5WJ without
complying with condition 9 attached thereto. The effect of the application is to amend the
scope of the permitted waste stream set out within Condition 9 of CM/78/14; the proposed
amendments act to distinguish the waste streams of the Anaerobic Digestion Plant and
Materials Recycling Facility respectively.
Operational changes,
including vehicle movements and annual throughput, are not

1.2

Page 17

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

1.3

2.0
2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

proposed to change as part of this planning application.
The application is being reported for determination by the Strategic Sites Committee as the
Service Director considers it raises issues which require the committee’s consideration
although a request for call in was received from Councillor Carole Paternoster

Site Description
The Olleco Anaerobic Digestion Facility, hereinafter referred to as ‘The Site’, is situated within
the village of Buckland. The Site comprises 2.3 Hectares of land located to the north east end
of Samian Way, opposite Arla Dairy to the east of College Road North, adjacent to the A41
Aston Clinton Bypass and junction of College Road North with the A41. Samian Way runs to
the north east off College Road North. The Site is a triangular parcel of land between the Arla
Dairy and the Aylesbury Arm of the Grand Union Canal. The canal’s towpath runs west to east
of the site’s northern boundary which is separated from the site by a 3m bund with 2m
acoustic fencing on the top and the bund is 0.2m higher as it turns the corner on the eastern
side of the site. The eastern boundary is defined by a lane, Buckland Road.
Aylesbury is located approximately 4km to the west, Aston Clinton 1.5km to the south and
Buckland approximately 1.5km to the south east, separated by the A41. The Site is accessed
from the north eastern end of Samian Way opposite the main gated entrance to the Arla
Dairy plant. College Road North serves a number of industrial / commercial uses including,
but not limited to: a HWRC site, Mercedes-Benz Retail Park, Jaguar Buckinghamshire and
Aylesbury Trade Centre.
Residential properties in the wider locality are College Farm along College Road North
(approx. 750m away), and Merrymead Farm located over the canal bridge to the west of
College Road North (approx. 850m away), north west of the Site approximately. To the north
east is Monks Court and Monks Farm both of which are in excess of 200m distant from the
site. Canal Farm , a permitted residential unit, is located approximately 191 metres away
from the north eastern corner of the Site. Rectory Farm, Puttenham, is located further to the
north east at 750m away. Cherry Farm is a residential property sited south of the over bridge
on Buckland Road and there are properties south of the A41 on College Road South approx.
800m away. Canal Farm is also approximately 200 metres from the site.
The character of the landscape is of undeveloped open fields with hedgerow boundaries.
The Chilterns AONB and Metropolitan Green Belt are located approximately 2.5km beyond
the site and beyond Aston Clinton to the south and south east. An existing hedgerow runs
north-south across the Site. This has previously been identified as an Important Hedgerow
by virtue of the fact it reflects a previous parish boundary. The boundary with Dacorum
Borough Council is located some 800m to the east of the Site; Within Dacorum Borough to
the east is Tring Woodlands SSSI (approximately 5.25km away to the south east) and Tring
Reservoir SSSI (approximately 2.5km to the east).
The location of the site is shown in the site location plan below (Figure 1).

Page 18

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

.

Figure 1 . A Site Plan showing the Olleco Facility outlined in Red
3.0
3.1

Relevant Planning History
Table 1 (below) sets out the relevant planning history of the site

Page 19

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Table 1: A Table displaying the relevant planning history for the Olleco Anaerobic Digestion Facility

Reference

Development

Decision

Decision Date

CM/78/14

Proposed Anaerobic Digestion Plant/Materials
Recycling Facility (MRF) together with associated
plan and landscaping (This was accompanied by a S.
106 Agreement covering routeing of vehicles and
the catchment area for the collection of waste)

PER

15 July 2015

AOC/0078/1503

Allocation of condition 3 for proposed Anaerobic
Digestion Plant/Materials Recycling Facility (MRF)
together with associated plan and landscaping

PER

28 October 2015

AOC/0078/1504

Allocation on Condition 4 (Materials) Proposed
Anaerobic Digestion Plant/Materials Recycling
Facility (MRF) together with associated plan and
landscaping

PER

24 November 2015

AOC/0078/1506

Approval of Condition 6 (Cycle Storage) for
Proposed Anaerobic Digestion Plant/Materials
Recycling Facility (MRF) together with associated
plan and landscaping

PER

17 September 2015

AOC/0078/1508

Approval of Condition 8 (Surface Water Drainage)
for Proposed Anaerobic Digestion Plant/Materials
Recycling Facility (MRF) together with associated
plan and landscaping

PER

17 September 2015

AOC/0078/1516

Approval of Condition 16 (Noise Monitoring)
Proposed Anaerobic Digestion Plant/Materials
Recycling Facility (MRF) together with associated
plan and landscaping

PER

17 September 2015

AOC/0078/1519

Approval of Condition 19 (Dust
Monitoring/Mitigation for Proposed Anaerobic
Digestion Plant/Materials Recycling Facility (MRF)
together with associated plan and landscaping

PER

17 September 2015

CM/62/16

Application for the approval of Unilateral
Undertaking agreement dated 13 July 2015
Schedule 2 (Lorry Routing), clauses 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3
in relation to consent CM/78/14 for proposed
Anaerobic Digestion Plant/Materials Recycling
Facility (MRF) together with associated plan and
landscaping

PER

CX/02/19

Hazardous substance consent to store and use an
inventory of hazardous substances at the Olleco
Anaerobic Digestion Facility, Samian Way, Aston
Clinton, Aylesbury, HP22 5WJ

PER

CM/0037/20

Proposed Building for Page
Fresh Cooking
20 Oil Packing &
Used Cooking Oil Processing

Not yet
determined

18 June 2020

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

3.2

The development has been screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment
Regulations and the local planning authority has concluded that an environmental impact
assessment will not be required in this case.

4.0
4.1

Description of the Development
Application CM/0022/20 is, in effect an application to vary Condition 9 of Planning Consent
CM/78/15 , which relates to the use of the Olleco site as an Anaerobic Digestion Plant and
Materials Recycling Facility.
Condition 9 of CM/78/14 currently states ;
No wastes other than food waste and general waste from single source quick service
restaurant chain shall be imported to and processed at the site.
Application CM/0022/20 proposes an alternative Condition 9 (CM/78/14) with the following
wording;
a) No waste shall be imported and processed through the Anaerobic Digestion Facility
other than food waste and any associated packaging.
b) No waste shall be imported to the Materials Recycling Facility other than general
waste and packaging from developments operating within Use Classes A3 and A5.
In support of the application the applicant has drawn attention to the initial proposal which
supported application CM/78/14. In particular the applicant has referenced the following
documents:
Waste Policy Statement prepared by Olleco and submitted with planning application
CM/78/14;
Planning Statement that accompanied CM/78/14; and
The Committee Report presented to (Former) Buckinghamshire County Council
Development Control Committee on the 9th June 2015.
Whilst the documents were not provided (in full) alongside the application , the Council have
placed these documents in their entirety alongside the application on public access.
The application does not include any proposals that would result in operational changes to
the development as currently permitted; there are for example no changes to the number of
vehicle movements (HGV) , or the annual permitted throughput and/or other currently
permitted operational processes.
The application does not seek to vary the type of waste accepted. It is already permitted to
treat food waste and general waste from single source quick service restaurant chain , but
instead this application seeks to expand the scope of waste sources from which food waste
may be accepted; facilitating receipt of food waste and associated packaging at the
Anaerobic Digestion Plant and General Waste and Packaging Waste from developments
falling within the use classes of A3 & A5 as the relevant waste streams.
Use Classes A3 & A5 , as defined by The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order
1987 (as amended), stand to define the following uses;
A3 (Restaurants and Cafes): Development for the sale of food and drink for consumption on
the premises - restaurants, snack bars and cafes.
A5 (Hot Food Takeaways): Development for the sale of hot food for consumption off the
premises.

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

Page 21

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

4.8

The documents submitted as part of the planning application are available to view using
application
reference
number
CM/0022/20
on
the
planning
website
(https://publicaccess.buckscc.gov.uk/online-applications/) and the schedule of submitted
documents is available in Appendix B.

5.0
5.1

Planning Policy and Other Documents
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning
applications are determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
The development plan for this area comprises of:
•
Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016-2036 (BMWLP)
•
Adopted Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan 2004 (AVDLP)
Other documents that need to be considered in determining this development include:
•
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
•
National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW)
The following policies are considered to be relevant to this development:
Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2016-2036)
Policy 13: Spatial Strategy for Waste Management
Policy 14: Development Principles for Waste Management Facilities
Policy 16: Managing Impacts on Amenity and Natural Resources
Policy 26 Safeguarding of Minerals Development and Waste Management
Infrastructure
Adopted Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan 2004 (AVDLP):
Policy GP.8- Protecting Residential Amenity
The draft Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan (2013-2033) (VALP) is considered to be at an advanced
stage of preparation and is a material consideration for the determination of planning
applications.

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

Emerging policies from the draft Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan (2013-2033) considered to be
relevant to the proposed development include:
BE3: Protection of the amenity of residents

6.0
6.1

Evaluation
The application is effectively seeking to vary condition 9 of CM/78/14 , which states: No
wastes other than food waste and general waste from single source quick service restaurant
chain shall be imported to and processed at the site. In the existing consent condition 9 acts
to define the permitted waste type and origin; food and general waste stand as the
acceptable waste types and a single source quick service restaurant (chain) as the permitted
waste source. If permission is granted subject to this application condition 9 will effectively
prescribe the permitted waste stream, a mix of food and general waste explicitly derived
from the permitted waste source. The restriction afforded by the current wording of
condition 9 is not directed at a discrete function or process (Anaerobic Digestion or Materials

Page 22

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9
6.9.1

Recycling Facility ) of the development as currently permitted; moreover it seeks to define
the permissible waste stream for the development holistically.
The application seeks an alternative condition 9 as follows
a) No waste shall be imported and processed through the Anaerobic Digestion Facility
other than food waste and any associated packaging.
b) No waste shall be imported to the Materials Recycling Facility other than general
waste and packaging from developments operating within Use Classes A3 and A5.
The proposed changes act to change the precision of the condition both in an internal and
external context. Firstly the alternative wording seeks to identify two discrete permitted
waste streams; a waste stream for the Anaerobic Digestion Facility and a separate waste
stream for the Materials Recycling Facility. This change is considered to represent an internal
(on-site) change in waste stream precision. Whilst it is accepted that at the time of writing
this report the Materials Recycling Facility has not yet been implemented, a reasonable
interpretation of the existing wording of condition 9 would extend to the Materials Recycling
Facility , at its point of implementation.
In respect of external precision the alternative wording of condition seeks to both restrict
and expand the scope of permissible waste sources. In respect of the Anaerobic Digestion
Facility food waste and any associated packaging , may be imported to and processed within
the facility indiscriminate of its origin (waste source). In respect of the Materials Recycling
Facility , general waste and packaging , may be imported . This general waste and packaging
must originate from developments falling within the A3 or A5 use classes; Restaurants and
Cafes (A3) and Hot Food Takeaways (A5).
In effect , the alternative wording seeks to remove the exclusivity of waste sources available
for use within the Anaerobic Digestion Facility whilst retaining the general character of the
permissible waste type, food waste and associated packaging, set out within the original
wording of condition 9 (CM/78/14).
The alternative wording seeks to retain an element of exclusivity of waste source in respect
of the Materials Recycling Facility, however the scope of this exclusivity exceeds that of the
original wording of Condition 9; single source quick service restaurant chain replaced by any
development falling within the A3 or A5 use classes. The alternative wording also seeks to
retain the general character of permissible waste types within the Materials Recycling
Facility, general waste and packaging, set out within the original wording of condition 9.
Based on the content of the application before the Council , the proposed alternative
condition 9 does not seek to increase operational capacity nor alter operational practice
above that which is currently permitted within CM/78/14.
The main issues for consideration in relation to application CM/0022/20 are:
•
Principle of the Development
•
Impact on amenity
Principle of the Development
Building on the nature of the proposal set out within the start of this discussion,
understanding the principle of the development is crucial to its assessment against the
provisions of the development plan. Whilst the proposal presents a material change, it is
important to characterise this change in respect of its mechanism. The elements of the
alternative wording presented by the proposal, effectively act to expand the scope of

Page 23

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

6.9.2

6.9.3

6.9.4

6.9.5

6.9.6

6.9.7

6.9.8

6.9.9

permissible waste sources whilst establishing two discrete internal waste streams feeding the
Anaerobic Digestion Plant and Materials Recycling Facility, respectively.
As the proposal relates to an alteration to an existing waste management facility (and
infrastructure), the provisions of Policy 26 of the BMWLP are relevant. Retention of existing
waste management forms a key part of the delivery of net self-sufficiency and the movement
towards a sustainable waste management network. Policy 26 (BMWLP) deals principally with
the safeguarding of existing sites to which this application would be a variation. The purposes
of safeguarding existing sites are applicable in the determination of this application; delivery
of net self-sufficiency and development of a sustainable waste management network.
Policy 26 (BMWLP), at least by means of inference, ensures that the assessment of changes
to existing waste management development ensures that these principle objectives of the
plan are in fact taken into consideration. The proposal presents, in its most basic form, an
increase in waste arising opportunity (waste source), notwithstanding the materiality of the
internal waste stream revisions and is therefore considered to be principally in accordance
with Policy 26 (BMWLP).
As the proposed development acts to increase the accessibility of the permitted waste
stream amongst the wider waste management need of Buckinghamshire, it is possible to
frame the proposal as not only a means of retaining the existing waste management capacity
within Buckinghamshire but moreover the proposal seeks to increase the portion of the
existing waste management need that may be imported to and treated at the site.
Policy 13 (BMWLP) establishes the overarching spatial strategy for waste management within
the development plan. Policy 13 has a central focus on the delivery of a sustainable waste
management network, in particular the development of facilities for the reuse and other
recovery of waste material; such delivery is to be principally focused within main urban areas
and growth locations of High Wycombe, Aylesbury and Buckingham within existing industrial
and employment areas.
The existing development, which the proposal seeks to vary, is situated within an industrial
complex to the south of Aylesbury. Whilst these facts fulfil the spatial element of Policy 13 it
is also relevant to consider the general mechanism of the proposal in relation to the policy.
Delivery of future capacity and subsequently the sustainable waste management network
may also be addressed through the extension of existing facilities. Whilst the application does
not explicitly seek to increase the quantity of manageable waste at the Site, it does however
seek to expand the range and accessibility of waste within the existing waste need of
Buckinghamshire; effectively improving the site’s ability to address a larger proportion of
Buckinghamshire’s existing waste need.
As the proposal acts to cater for an additional proportion of existing identified waste need,
through the changes proposed to the existing facilities’ acceptable waste streams, the
proposal is therefore considered to be compliant with the provisions of Policy 13 (BMWLP).
Policy 14 (BMWLP) establishes a set of development principles for waste management
facilities. Whilst the policy criteria primarily act to shape the development for new waste
management facilities, they remain relevant in the consideration of proposed changes to
existing facilities.
In the specific context of this application the following development principles are considered
to be relevant in its determination;

Page 24

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

6.9.10

6.9.11

6.9.12

6.10
6.10.1

6.10.2

6.10.3

6.10.4

Proposals for waste management facilities must demonstrate that the development;
 Is in general compliance with the spatial strategy for waste
development
 Facilitates the delivery of Buckinghamshire’s waste management
capacity
 [….] supports the management of waste in line with the waste
hierarchy and the proximity principle
As stated in para 6.9.7 of this report , the proposal is considered to be principally compliant
with the overarching spatial strategy for waste development, as set out within Policy 13
(BMWLP). The proposal is considered to act in such a manner that it would facilitate the
delivery of Buckinghamshire’s waste management strategy, in the context of increasing the
proportion of manageable capacity at the site as opposed to the creation of novel capacity.
Lastly , as the existing development and proposal both relate to a use which would constitute
‘other recovery’, the proposal does not constitute the least desirable for waste management
within the waste hierarchy; as such the proposal can be seen to represent the movement of
waste up through the waste hierarchy.
The proposal is considered to be compliant with the relevant waste management facility
development principles and is therefore considered to be in conformity with the provisions of
Policy 14 (BMWLP).
On balance, the principle of the proposed development is considered to be supported by the
relevant provisions of the development plan.
Impact upon Amenity
During the consultation process for the application, the council received a number of public
representations . A significant proportion of these representations raised concerns regarding
the proposal’s potential impact upon existing odour controls at the site and the resulting
potential for detriment upon local amenity. Objections have also been received from the
local councillors with odour being the significant area of concerns raised (please see
Appendix A) .
In the context of the existing development (as permitted by CM/78/14), historic odour issues
occurred at the site throughout 2018 and the representations received indicated that there
are ongoing issues. Whilst the Council bare a regulatory remit upon odour via condition 18 of
CM/78/14 , the control of odour is principally addressed by the site’s Environmental Permit;
therefore the Environment Agency act as the primary regulator in respect of odour.
The Council liaised with the Environment Agency during the addressing of the
aforementioned issues; however the Council did not lead upon nor consider formal
enforcement action as the odour issues of their own volition did not represent a discrete
breach of planning control.
The concerns regarding odour and their potential for detriment upon amenity are considered
material in the consideration of application CM/0022/20. The materiality of this point is
further supported when the reasoning for the original wording of condition 9 (CM/78/14) is
considered:
The importation of waste materials outside of these categories would raise
environmental and amenity issues which would require consideration afresh and in

Page 25

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

6.10.5

6.10.6

6.10.7

accordance with Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2004-2016) Policy
28 , Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Policy CS22 and Aylesbury
Vale District Council Local Plan Policies GP.8 and GP.95
In addition to the materiality afforded by the original wording of condition 9 (CM/78/14), it is
important to address issues relating to odour and amenity in order to assess the proposal’s
compliance with Policy 16 (BMWLP) , Policy GP.8 (AVDLP) and Policy BE3 (VALP)
Whilst the consideration of odour and amenity fall to be material, the scope of their role
within the determination of this application is that the focus should be on the impact of the
proposed changes upon odour and amenity. The question, in the context of this application,
is whether the proposed changes to the acceptable waste stream would result in adverse
odour impacts and subsequently detriment to local amenity.
In order to address this issue, the Aylesbury Area Environmental Health Team were
consulted and advised as follows:

6.10.8
Having reviewed the planning application with regard to the variation of Condition 9 pursuant
to planning application CM/0022/20, I would advise as follows from an Environmental Health
point of view.
This facility is regulated under permit from the Environment Agency who would deal with
odour emissions from the premises and complaints. With regard to the proposal to include
general waste and packaging from businesses operating within Use Classes A3 and A5, I am
satisfied that the Anaerobic Digestion Plant and associated equipment is capable of handling
these types of materials efficiently without causing excessive odours in the area that are likely
to amount to a statutory nuisance. The food that is to be collected from premises in Use
Classes A3 and A5 in my opinion have no additional adverse impacts on the plant’s inherent
ability to process the materials collected.
It is clear from the general facilities specifications and Olleco’s technical knowledge of this
industry that it will be operated safely and within industry good practice guidelines.
This memo does not include comments relating to air quality and contaminated land, where
relevant, these comments will be provided separately.

6.10.9

The proposed changes to the waste stream remain largely in keeping with the currently
permitted waste stream. Whilst the concerns raised with regard to previous odour problems
arising from the site are acknowledged and are material to the consideration of this
application, the advice of the Environmental Health team in consultation on the application
is that the changes proposed should not result in any adverse impacts in terms of excessive
odour on amenity. It is therefore considered that the proposal for variation to the condition
would be unlikely to result in an adverse impact upon odour and local amenity. The other
existing planning conditions including the various schemes subsequently approved and
including the odour control strategy, would remain operative should planning permission be
granted. The proposal is therefore considered to be generally compliant with Policy 16
(BMWLP) , Policy GP.8 (AVDLP) and Policy BE3 (VALP).

Page 26

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

7.0
7.1

7.2

7.3

Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In
addition, Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country
Planning Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing
with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to:
a.
Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material,
b.
Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application
(such as CIL if applicable), and,
c.
Any other material considerations
As set out above it is considered that the proposed development is in broad compliance with
the policies referenced in this report and that the proposed variation of condition 9 would
not lead to additional harm from the development The application should therefore be
granted planning permission. All other conditions attached to the existing planning
permission CM/78/14 should be attached to the permission with any commensurate
amendments to reflect the subsequent discharge of conditions for the approval of detailed
schemes and their ongoing implementation.
In writing this report due regard has been taken of the need to eliminate unlawful
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity between
different groups and foster good relations between different groups. It is not however
considered that any issues with regard thereto are raised in relation to consideration of this
application.

8.0
8.1

Working with the applicant / agent
The applicant / agent sought pre-application advice for the proposed development on two
occasions before submitting the application.

8.2

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2019) the Council approach decision-taking in
a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure developments.

8.3

The Council has worked with the agents in a positive and proactive manner and as
appropriate updating agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of the application.

9.0

Recommendation
Application CM/0022/20 is for the variation of Condition 9 to Planning Consent CM/78/14.
CM/0022/20 seeks to replace the original wording of condition , which states;
No wastes other than food waste and general waste from single source quick service
restaurant chain shall be imported to and processed at the site.
The proposal seeks to replace condition 9 with the following wording;

Page 27

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

a) No waste shall be imported and processed through the Anaerobic Digestion Facility
other than food waste and any associated packaging.
b) No waste shall be imported to the Materials Recycling Facility other than general
waste and packaging from developments operating within Use Classes A3 and A5.
9.1

Subject to the applicant entering in to an appropriate S. 106 Planning Obligation to apply the
requirements with regard to routeing and the catchment area for the collection of waste the
Strategic Sites Committee INDICATES SUPPORT for application CM/0022/20 with the
imposition of an alternative condition 9 being as proposed in the application and to the
other existing conditions attached to planning permission CM/78/14 with any amendments
to reflect the subsequent discharge of conditions and DELEGATES Authority to the Service
Director for Planning and Environment to determine the Application.

Page 28

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

APPENDIX A: Consultation Responses and Representations
Councillor Comments
Councillor Carole Paternoster
I object to this planning application for the following reasons:
The reason that Condition 9 was attached to Olleco's original planning consent (CM/78/14)
was: 'The importation of waste materials outside these categories would raise
environmental and amenity issues which would require consideration afresh .......'
The environmental and amenity issues mentioned in the above are exactly the reason why
this planning application to increase the amount of food waste processed on this site must
be refused.
Ever since this plant first went into production there have been major problems with odours
escaping from this site, to the detriment of local residents, users of the canal facility and
walkers and cyclists trying to enjoy the countryside in Lower Buckland. Buckland Parish
Council and local residents (and there are residential properties within 200m of this site)
have had numerous meetings with Olleco to try to stop this odour problem, but without
success. Before planning consent was granted local residents were promised by Olleco that
there would be no odours outside the site boundary.
Despite all these meetings and the involvement of the Environment Agency, as well as
promises given by Olleco, these sickening odours continue to this day. These odours have
made passers-by physically sick, and I have had to go home and wash all my clothes and
hair, and still been unable to get rid of the stench. As Councillors we receive numerous
complaints from ramblers, families trying to enjoy the countryside, cyclists, walkers and
residents. On bad days the odours even reach Buckland and Aston Clinton village centres.
Every time complaints are made to Olleco, the staff always find excuses. A recent example,
when a local residents complained that the stench was even inside his house, the response
from Olleco was that they 'had an issue with the depack hall doors'. Either there is a major
problem with the design of this site or with the way in which the site is currently being used.
Whatever the problem is, it must be put right so as to cause no odour problems outside the
site boundary, before any consideration can be given to the current planning application.
Increasing the amount of food waste processed on this site is contrary to planning policies
GP8 and GP95 of AVDLP, which deal with residential amenity and unneighbourly uses, as
well as para 170 (e) of the NPPF which deals with 'preventing new and existing development
from contributing to . . ., ., or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air,

Page 29

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk
water or noise pollution . . . . ' Granting this application would certainly
increase the amount of air pollution outside the site caused by Olleco's
processing of food waste. I urge you to refuse this planning application

Councillor Bill Chapple
Dear Sir
As one of the local councillors for this application(CM/0022/20) I wish that this is called in
and dealt with in public to the relevant Committee.
Although I'm aware that when the Covid 19 was in its early stages the site took in waste that
normally went to Westcott as an emergency as Westcott was temporary closed I totally
object to this happening on a regularly basis, if planning is given what is stopping them from
going to the Buckland forever more.
When this site was originally given planning permission the applicants said that ALL smells
would be contained with the boundary of the site ( if indeed there was any smell at all as
they believed that there would not be any smell whatsoever
the pretty village of Buckland has been totally taken over by this nauseous smell and the
villagers are restricted to be in their houses and cannot open there windows all year round.
This village is now blighted for as long as this site remains operative.
When people walk along the canal next to the site they experience this rotten smell and
some has been physically sick, indeed the numbers along this towpath has drastically
dropped. if you stopped and talked to anyone in Buckland or indeed Aston Clinton they will
tell you they ruen the.
Parish/Town Council Comments
Buckland Parish Council
Dear Members of Committee
OLLECO PLANNING APPLICATION CM0022/20
Buckland Parish Council has received notification from Buckinghamshire Council that Olleco
have applied for an alteration to their current planning consent which will increase the
amount of food waste imported to the site by taking in domestic food waste from
Buckinghamshire. This food waste used to be taken to a site at Westcott which has now
closed.
Olleco's original planning consent in 2014 (ref CM/78/14) contained a condition 9 that 'no
food wastes other than food waste and general waste from single source a quick service

Page 30

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk
restaurant chain shall be imported to and processed at the site.' The
reason that Condition 9 was attached to Olleco's original planning
consent (CM/78/14) was: 'The importation of waste materials outside these categories
would raise environmental and amenity issues which would require consideration afresh
??.'
The environmental and amenity issues mentioned in the above are exactly the reason why
this planning application to increase the amount of food waste processed on this site must
be refused.
Ever since this plant first went into production there have been major problems with odours
escaping from this site, to the detriment of local residents, users of the canal facility and
walkers and cyclists trying to enjoy the countryside in Lower Buckland. Buckland Parish
Council and local residents (there are residential properties within 200m of this site) have
had numerous meetings with Olleco to try to stop this odour problem, but without success.
Before planning consent was granted local residents were promised by Olleco that there
would be no odours outside the site boundary.
Despite all these meetings and the involvement of the Environment Agency, as well as
promises given by Olleco, these sickening odours continue to this day. These odours have
made passers-by physically sick, walkers have had to go home and wash all their clothes and
hair, still being unable to get rid of the stench. As Councillors we receive numerous
complaints from ramblers, families trying to enjoy the countryside, cyclists, walkers and
residents. On bad days the odours even reach Buckland and Aston Clinton village centres.
The Parish Council is very concerned about the odour problems which have emanated from
the Olleco site since it first went into production. Many meetings between the Parish
Council and Olleco have taken place, and every time reasons are given by Olleco staff for
these odour leaks, but nothing has ever been done to prevent odours outside their site
boundary, as residents were promised would be the case by Sandra Pugh of Olleco before
the planning consent was granted.
Despite all the meetings that have taken place, including with the involvement of the
Environment Agency who granted Olleco its permit to operate the site, and promises given,
these sickening odours continue to this day. The current application seeks to increase the
amount of food waste processed at the site, which can only increase the amount of odours
released in Buckland.
Every time complaints are made to Olleco, the staff always find excuses. A recent example,
when a local residents complained that the stench was even inside his house, the response
from Olleco was that they 'had an issue with the de-pack hall doors'. Either there is a major
Every problem with the design of this site or with the way in which the site is currently being
used. Whatever the problem is, it must be put right so as to cause no odour problems

Page 31

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk
outside the site boundary, before any consideration can be given to the
current planning application.
Increasing the amount of food waste processed on this site is contrary to planning policies
GP8 and GP95 of AVDLP, which deal with residential amenity and unneighbourly uses, as
well as para 170 (e) of the NPPF which deals with 'preventing new and existing development
from contributing to . . ., ., or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air,
water or noise pollution . . . . ' Granting this application would certainly increase the amount
of air pollution outside the site caused by Olleco's processing of food waste. The Parish
Council urge you to refuse this planning application.
Yours faithfully

Aston Parish Council
Aston Clinton Parish Council objects to this application.
The plant has been operating for 5 years with continued and unaddressed issues with the
current facilities and until these have been resolved the Parish Council do not believe that it
is in the public or operators best interest to expand the operations in anyway including the
introduction of household waste.
Representatives from the parish council and local authority have attended numerous
meetings where site representatives have made assurances that the issues will be rectified
but nothing has changed, with foul odours spreading across residential areas to
unacceptable levels.
Until the current issues have been resolved, the Parish Council cannot consider anything
other than to object to this application.
Consultation Responses
Highways DM
Highways Development Management had provided no objection for the proposed
development
Environmental Health
Environmental Health provided no comments in response to the initial consultation request.
As a result of the odour concerns raised in a significant number of public representations ,
an additional consultation request was issued to the Environmental Health Team (Aylesbury
Area); this additional request focused specifically on the issue of odour in relation to the

Page 32

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk
proposal (CM/0022/20). Environmental Health provided the following
comments in response to the additional consultation request;
Having reviewed the planning application with regard to the variation of Condition 9
pursuant to planning application CM/0022/20, I would advise as follows from an
Environmental Health point of view.
This facility is regulated under permit from the Environment Agency who would deal
with odour emissions from the premises and complaints. With regard to the
proposal to include general waste and packaging from businesses operating within
Use Classes A3 and A5, I am satisfied that the Anaerobic Digestion Plant and
associated equipment is capable of handling these types of materials efficiently
without causing excessive odours in the area that are likely to amount to a statutory
nuisance. The food that is to be collected from premises in Use Classes A3 and A5 in
my opinion have no additional adverse impacts on the plants inherent ability to
process the materials collected.
It is clear from the general facilities specifications and Olleco's technical knowledge
of this industry that it will be operated safely and within industry good practice
guidelines.
This memo does not include comments relating to air quality and contaminated land,
where relevant, these comments will be provided separately.

Representations
25 comments have been received objecting to the proposal. The reasons for objection and
concerns raised are summarised as follows:



Odour



Highways Impact



Residential Amenity



Impact on Human Health



Air Quality

Page 33

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

APPENDIX B: Submission List:

-

Covering letter dated 27th April 2020
Application form
Planning Statement dated December 2014
Olleco Waste Policy Statement dated February 2015
14/092/13F – Proposed Site Plan

-

14/092/21 – Site Location Plan

Page 34

Appendix B

Page 35

Page 36

Page 37

Page 38

Page 39

Page 40

Page 41

Page 42

Page 43

Page 44

Page 45

Page 46

Page 47

Page 48

Page 49

Page 50

Page 51

Page 52

Page 53

Page 54

Page 55

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

Page 57

Page 58

Page 59

Page 60

Page 61

Page 62

Page 63

Page 64

Page 65

Page 66

Page 67

Page 68

Page 69

Page 70

Page 71

Page 72

Page 73

Page 74

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

Page 77

Page 78

Page 79

Page 80

Page 81

Page 82

Page 83

Page 84

Page 85

Page 86

Page 87

Page 88

Page 89

Page 90

Page 91

Page 92

Page 93

Page 94

Page 95

Page 96

Page 97

Page 98

Appendix B

Page 99

Page 100

Page 101

Page 102

Page 103

Page 104

Page 105

Page 106

Page 107

Page 108

Appendix B

ISO14001:2015 Manual

Odour Monitoring – Sniff Testing
Owner:

Sandra Pugh

Document no.:

AYL-AD-WI-132

Issue date:

10.09.2019

Revision no.:

Rev. 2

Review date:

01.10.2020

Approver:

Stephen Weston

AYL-AD-WI-132 ODOUR MONITORING – SNIFF TESTING
Purpose:
The purpose of this Work Instruction is to ensure that olfactory monitoring (sniff testing) is undertaken at the
Aylesbury AD Plant in accordance with Environment Agency guidance and the site permit requirements.
Scope:
The EA Permit requires that daily olfactory monitoring is undertaken for odour detection at the site
boundary. The location of the olfactory monitoring points has been agreed with the Environment Agency.
There are 15 monitoring points; 10 within the operational site boundary and 5 off site. The locations of the
monitoring points are shown on the diagrams in Appendix 1.
Procedure:
On week days (Monday – Friday), sniff testing shall be undertaken twice per day at the agreed monitoring
points by the external odour assessor. The time of the monitoring shall be varied, but in general, one round
of monitoring will be undertaken in the morning and one in the afternoon.
If the external odour assessor is not available, the monitoring shall be undertaken by operational staff from
the AD Plant.
At weekends, if the plant is accepting waste, one odour monitoring tour will be undertaken by operational
staff from the plant.
All staff undertaking odour monitoring, including the external assessor, shall have received training in odour
assessment. The odour assessors should not be subject to significant site odour in the 30 minutes prior to
the assessment. This is to ensure that personnel are not suffering from odour fatigue and will be sensitive to
site odours.
It is the responsibility of the Plant Superintendent to ensure that the monitoring is undertaken in accordance
with this work instruction.
Recording and Reporting of Monitoring Results
At each monitoring location observations shall be made concerning odour intensity, persistence and
character, weather conditions and any ‘abnormal’ site operating conditions at the time of the survey.
The daily monitoring record sheet (EMS-F-007) shall be completed. This provides a scale of odour intensity;
from 0 - no odour, to 6 - extremely strong odour, in accordance with Environment Agency guidance. Odour
intensity shall be recorded as follows:





0 - No odour (no odour can be detected)
1 - Very faint odour (only detectable if you specifically sniff for it)
2 - Faint odour (detectable if you casually sniff for it)

Page 1 of 5 | Olleco
This document is uncontrolled when printed

Page 109

ISO14001:2015 Manual

Odour Monitoring – Sniff Testing
Owner:






Sandra Pugh

Document no.:

AYL-AD-WI-132

Issue date:

10.09.2019

Revision no.:

Rev. 2

Review date:

01.10.2020

Approver:

Stephen Weston

3 - Distinct odour (detectable by just standing there normally)
4 - Strong odour (unavoidable odour)
5 - Very strong odour (likely to leave lingering smell on clothes, or lingering taste)
6 - Extremely strong odour (likely to causes immediate physical symptoms such as nausea, sore
throat and headaches)

The Plant Supervisor shall be notified following detection of any odour of intensity 2 (faint odour) or above
at any of the off site monitoring points so that further inspection can be undertaken to investigate the
source of the odour on site and, if substantiated, to identify any corrective actions.
A fixed weather station is installed at the AD Plant to automatically record wind direction and speed. This
data shall be used to record weather conditions during the routine monitoring or following an odour
complaint. The weather data shall be stored electronically.
A hard copy of the daily odour monitoring record sheet shall be held on file in the weighbridge office and
available for inspection by the Environment Agency.
Related Documents
EMS-F-007 Daily Odour Monitoring Record Form

Page 2 of 5 | Olleco
This document is uncontrolled when printed

Page 110

Document no.:

AYL-AD-WI-132

Issue date:

10.09.2019

ISO14001:2015 Manual

Odour Monitoring – Sniff Testing
Owner:

Sandra Pugh

Revision no.:

Rev. 2

Review date:

01.10.2020

Approver:

Stephen Weston

Appendix 1 A - Daily Odour Monitoring Positions (“Sniff” Testing)

Page 111
Page 3 of 5 | Olleco
This document is uncontrolled when printed

Document no.:

AYL-AD-WI-132

Issue date:

10.09.2019

ISO14001:2015 Manual

Odour Monitoring – Sniff Testing
Owner:

Sandra Pugh

Revision no.:

Rev. 2

Review date:

01.10.2020

Approver:

Stephen Weston

Appendix 1 B - Daily Odour Monitoring Positions (“Sniff” Testing)

Page 112
Page 4 of 5 | Olleco
This document is uncontrolled when printed

ISO14001:2015 Manual

Odour Monitoring – Sniff Testing
Issued By:

Sandra Pugh

Document no.:

AYL-AD-WI-132

Issue date:

10/09/2019

Revision no.:

Rev. 2

Review date:

01/10/2020

Approved By:

Stephen Weston

EMPLOYEE TRAINING DECLARATION
Document no.:
Depot / Location / Area

Related Risk Assessment ID
No.(s)

AYL-AD-WI-132
Aylesbury - compliance

Task / Activity

Odour Monitoring – Sniff
Testing

I have been shown, trained and understand the Work Instruction of the above task / activity. I agree to
follow the Work Instruction documented at all times
I have been made aware of and understand the risks associated with this task and the consequences if this
work instruction is not adhered to.
Print Name (Employee)

Employee Signature

Date

TRAINER DECLARATION
I the trainer have trained the above person in the procedures laid out in this work instruction. I am satisfied
that the person has shown competency in the task/activity/equipment by way of:

 Practical demonstration
 Verbal questioning
 Theory test
 Other (please state)
Please provide details of criteria/method used below
Training/ Testing Criteria / Methods / Documentation
Please indicate below the criteria/documentation used to test employee competence and attach to this work
instruction

Print Name (Trainer)

Trainer Signature

Date

Page 5 of 5 | Olleco
This document is uncontrolled when printed

Page 113

This page is intentionally left blank

Odour Complaints
Nature of Complaint
Reported 11/7/20 @ 09:04 - NIRS 1826110 - Caller reports a smell from Arla Dairy in the Buckland area. The odour is reported
as coming from an anaerobic digester and has a really strong horrible smell. The smell is gassy almost like natural gas and has
been getting worse over the past week. The odour is getting into the reporters property. The weather is sunny with a breeze
coming from the direction of the plant. Odour is rated 5.5.
Reported 13/7/20 @ 1309hrs – noticed on 11/7/20 @ 2000hrs - NIRS 1826695
Details - Caller said odour from Olleco, they are located in lower Buckland Village, Caller said food waste recycling plant.
Caller said odour is like bins, rotten smell. Caller said noticed Sat evening at 8pm, and yesterday around 12:30. Caller is 3/4 of
a mile away from site. Caller said been around for a few days but not today. Caller said not inside house but can smell in
garden. Caller said it depends which way the wind blows, weather today not windy and warm and overcast. Caller rates at a 3
Reported 13/7/20 @ 0928hrs – noticed 13/7/20 @ 0830hrs- NIRS 1826550

Page 115

Details - Caller is reporting the odour from Olleco to the north of the canal bridge. This was at 08:30. It smells of waste food,
it's horrible, manky. The site is about 120 metres away. They were outdoors.
The weather is lovely, sunshine, slight breeze. Rated at 6/6.
Reported 12/7/20 @ 1319 hrs – noticed 12/7/20 @ 1319hrs –NIRS 1826421
Details - Caller reporting a bad odour to north of sites on the canal. The caller says signs have been errected advising people
to call the EA if they can detect a smell, so they are doing. The caller is outside near the canal. The caller says it is either from
Arla or the tip next door. Rated as a 5. Described as a methane smell. The weather is sunny. The caller says they are reporting
it as a good deed to help the community and says the Parish Council have put the signs up.
Reported 11/7/20 @ 1127 hrs – noticed 11/7/20 @ 1000hrs –NIRS 1826147
Detail – 6th report received in 24hrs. Caller reporting that at 10:00 when they arrived home in Buckland village the smell of
gas from Olleco was there, caller about half a mile from the site, sunny and
breezy day, rated at 6/6 at 10:00, smell is still there at the moment
Reported 14/7/20 @ 1040hrs – noticed on 14/7/20 @ 1040hrs - NIRS 1826974
Details- Caller lives in Buckland village. Olleco waste transfer station with anaerobic digesters. Caller has experienced odour
issues from the site for 3 years. Odour has been really bad for 3-4 days as wind has been in the North West and the odours
get blown up to the village. Site is 1k away from callers home. Odour is described as like dead bodies. Caller cannot smell it if
doors and windows closed but does not want to keep them closed because it is summer. Odour on scale at present is 1/6 but
over the weekend is has been up to 3 or 4 out of 6.
Reported 14/7/20 @ 1412hrs – noticed on 14/7/20 @ 1345hrs - NIRS 1827096
Details- Caller lives In Buckland village and is reporting the odour from Olleco or Arla described as eggy and rotting silage
odour and rated 3/6. The caller detected it in the garden and it is intermittent. It is not inside the home with the windows
and doors closed. The caller is 0.75 miles from the site and the weather is overcast and breezy possibly from the NW. The
caller says it made them leave the garden.
Reported 14/7/20 @ 1705hrs – noticed on 14/7/20 @ 1600hrs - NIRS 1827185

Direction of complaint

Buckland area

NE

ESE
7mph

Wind in opposite
direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland area

NE

ESE
2mph

Wind in opposite
direction, complaint not
justified

Canal bridge

NW

NNW
3mph

No odour noticed on site
during internal odour
tour and no issues on
site.

North of site

NW

NNW
9.6mph

No odour noticed on site
during internal odour
tour and no issues on
site.

Buckland area

NE

ESE
7mph

Wind in opposite
direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland village

NE

ESE
4mph

Wind in opposite
direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland village

NE

ESE
4mph

Wind in opposite
direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland village

NE

E
6mph

Comments

Wind in opposite
direction, complaint not
justified

Appendix C

Details - Caller lives in Buckland and is reporting a smell of gas coming from the Olleco or Arla anaerobic digester which is
about half a mile away. The odour is getting into the house with a door open, with a strength of 5/6. The weather is overcast
with a slight breeze coming from the direction of the site.

Wind Direction from
monitor

Location of complaint

Odour Complaints
Nature of Complaint

Location of complaint

Direction of complaint

Wind Direction from
monitor

Comments

Details - Caller reporting a bad odour to north of sites on the canal. The caller says signs have been errected advising people to call the EA if they can detect a smell, so they are doing. The caller is
outside near the canal. The caller says it is either from Arla or the tip next door. Rated as a 5. Described as a methane smell. The weather is sunny. The caller says they are reporting it as a good
deed to help the community and says the Parish Council have put the signs up.
Reported 11/7/20 @ 1127 hrs – noticed 11/7/20 @ 1000hrs –NIRS 1826147

North of site

NW

NNW
9.6mph

No odour noticed on site during internal odour
tour and no issues on site.

Detail – 6th report received in 24hrs. Caller reporting that at 10:00 when they arrived home in Buckland village the smell of gas from Olleco was there, caller about half a mile from the site, sunny
and
breezy day, rated at 6/6 at 10:00, smell is still there at the moment

Buckland area

NE

ESE
7mph

Buckland village

NE

ESE
4mph

Buckland village

NE

ESE
4mph

Buckland village

NE

E
6mph

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland village

NE

E
7mph

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland village

NE

ESE
5mph

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland village

NE

E
7mph

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland village

NE

E
5mph

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland village

NE

ESE
5mph

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Buckland village

NE

NNW
4mph

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Reported 12/7/20 @ 1319 hrs – noticed 12/7/20 @ 1319hrs –NIRS 1826421

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Reported 14/7/20 @ 1040hrs – noticed on 14/7/20 @ 1040hrs - NIRS 1826974
Details- Caller lives in Buckland village. Olleco waste transfer station with anaerobic digesters. Caller has experienced odour issues from the site for 3 years. Odour has been really bad for 3-4 days
as wind has been in the North West and the odours get blown up to the village. Site is 1k away from callers home. Odour is described as like dead bodies. Caller cannot smell it if doors and
windows closed but does not want to keep them closed because it is summer. Odour on scale at present is 1/6 but over the weekend is has been up to 3 or 4 out of 6.

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Reported 14/7/20 @ 1412hrs – noticed on 14/7/20 @ 1345hrs - NIRS 1827096

Page 116

Details- Caller lives In Buckland village and is reporting the odour from Olleco or Arla described as eggy and rotting silage odour and rated 3/6. The caller detected it in the garden and it is
intermittent. It is not inside the home with the windows and doors closed. The caller is 0.75 miles from the site and the weather is overcast and breezy possibly from the NW. The caller says it
made them leave the garden.
Reported 14/7/20 @ 1705hrs – noticed on 14/7/20 @ 1600hrs - NIRS 1827185
Details - Caller lives in Buckland and is reporting a smell of gas coming from the Olleco or Arla anaerobic digester which is about half a mile away. The odour is getting into the house with a door
open, with a strength of 5/6. The weather is overcast with a slight breeze coming from the direction of the site.

Wind in opposite direction, complaint not
justified

Reported 16/7/20 @ 1307 hrs – noticed on 16/7/20 @ 1000hrs - NIRS 1827779
Details - Caller lives in Buckland and rang in to report odour coming from Olleco. Processes waste from food restaurants. Odour is described as a gas leak in a sewage works. First noticed at
10.00am on the 16th of July 2020. Caller lives a kilometre away from the site. There is odour inside the home. Caller has had to close doors and windows as a result of the odour. The weather is
overcast but there is a breeze coming from the north west, in the direction of the village. Odour indoors is a 3, outside the home a 4, next to the digester a 6 plus
Reported 16/7/20 @ 1041hrs – noticed on 16/7/20 @ 0800hrs - NIRS 1827685
Details- Caller lives in Buckland and is reporting odour form Olleco or Arla - The odour is described as being a sour smell. The odour was first detected at 08:00. The reporter’s property is approx
half a mile away from the site in question. The odour hasn't entered the reporter’s property as windows & doors are closed. Weather conditions are described as being overcast with a slight
breeze. Smell intensity is scored as 5/6
Reported 16/7/20 @ 09291hrs – noticed on 16/7/20 @ 0929hrs - NIRS 1827635
Details- Caller lives in Buckland and is reporting an odour from Arla milk processing factory It is a gassy type smell. It has been present for about a week and it has got much worse today.Site is
approx. half a mile away. You can smell the odour inside the house. It is a food processing plant and it should not be making those type of smells, it is the anaerobic digester that is causing the
smell. There is the odd window open, cloudy weather conditions and a very light breeze .At the house it is a 3 out of 6 for the odour strength
Reported 20/7/20 @ 1223hrs – noticed on 20/7/20 @ 1130hrs - NIRS 1828832 and 1828815
Caller is resident in Buckland and parish councillor. He has called twice but wanted it reported once as member of the public and once as Parish Councillor. Caller is reporting the odour from
Olleco described as dead bodies as and rated as 3/6. It made the caller leave their garden. The caller is 1 km from the site and the weather is a northerly wind, sunny day, light breeze. The caller
says it is happening almost every other day. Noticed at 11:30. He is happy for his contact details to be passed and to be contacted directly if you want more information or wish to feedback to him
directly.

Reported 20/7/20 @ 1022hrs – noticed on 20/7/20 @ 1022hrs - NIRS 1828740
Caller) is resident in Buckland. Caller reports odour from industrial site. Caller reports this is from a milk factory, Arla. Caller reports this is a consistent issue over last few years
Caller reports this is the same most of the day and week. Caller reports the smell is coming from the northwest. Caller reports the site is about 1/2 mile away. Caller reports they are outside their
property coming back from walk. Caller reports they could also smell this about 6th of a mile further away while walking. Caller reports this smells gassy, seems to be from anaerobic digester.
Caller reports smell is about a 4 today. Caller reports weather is dry and sunny, slight breeze. The reporter is happy for their contact details to be passed and to be contacted directly if you want
more information or wish to feedback to him directly.
Reported 18/7/20 @ 1037hrs – noticed on 18/7/20 @ 1037hrs - NIRS 1828373
Details- caller is reporting the odour along Buckland Rd adjacent to the Arla and Olleco facilities (grid ref SP 88110 13602).They aren't local but saw an the sign saying to call us if they detected an
odour.
It smelled of rotting waste. They don't know where the smell comes from or how far away it was from the source. The smell was strong enough to make them want to leave the area. Rated 6/6.

UNCLASSIFIED

Appendix D

Environment Agency update

September 2020

Olleco has an environmental permit regulated by the Environment Agency. The permit includes
conditions on odour management and requires the operator to have all the appropriate infrastructure
and procedures to minimise pollution outside the site boundary as perceived by an agency officer.
No non-compliances of this permit have been recorded since April 2018. We have visited the site
16 times since then to check that the plant is operating normally and to assess the level of odour
on-site and offsite.
In 2019 we conducted 4 inspections of the site. No non-compliances were found and the site was
rated in compliance band A.
In 2020 we have conducted 3 inspections of the site to date. No non-compliances have been
found and the site is currently rated in compliance band A. Since June we have carried out 5
odour surveys and have not detected any odours at a level we consider to be unacceptable.

UNCLASSIFIED
C2 General

Page 117

1 of 1

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix E

Page 119

Page 120

Page 121

Page 122

Page 123

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix F
From:
To:
Cc:
Subject:
Date:
Attachments:

Suzanne Winkels
David Periam; Jeffrey Farrell; Gurbaksh Badhan; David Sutherland
FW: Olleco permission
01 April 2020 16:31:26
image001.jpg

Dear Alistair
Further to our discussion on Monday regarding Olleco diverting food waste that is
usually taken to Olleco Westcott to the facility at Aston Clinton as a result of the
Corona Crisis.
The currently Planning Permission for this site is covered by Application CM/78/14
I have read the application documents and it is clear that it was intended that up
to 50,000 tonnes of food waste would be imported to the AD plant from a range of
sources and that the single source of 80,000 tonnes of general waste was for the
MRF. This seems clear from the Application form, the Planning Statement and
waste statement that support the Decision Notice. Paragraph 12 of the committee
report states this clearly as part of what was proposed and again this seems
explicit in paragraph 153 in the Discussion section.
However, Condition 9 of the Permission is ambiguous, as outlined below:
Condition 9 “that no waste other than food waste and general waste from single
source quick service restaurants shall be imported to and processed at the site.”
It would seem in retrospect that it may have been more appropriate to attach two
conditions explicit to the different waste streams but this condition was not the
subject of an appeal within six months of the date of the grant of planning
permission and so stands as written.
It is not considered expedient at the current time to seek to test its enforceability
should you decide to bring forward additional food waste streams to the site as we
have discussed, for the duration of the Covid 19 Crisis, but this is with the caveat
that we understand that either a section 73 application to vary this specific
condition will be submitted expeditiously or that this is addressed as part of a
further application that you intend to submit for a variation to the MRF that is yet to
be constructed. In either case, we would expect to see an application submitted no
later than 30th April 2020. In addition to this we would expect that all other
conditions are complied with ie traffic and tonnage and that we would reviewed the
situation after one month if an application for the Section 73 was not forthcoming.
If you require any further clarification then please do not hesitate to contact me.
Your sincerely
Suzanne
Suzanne Winkels
Planning and Enforcement Manager

Page 125

Planning Growth and Sustainability

Address: Buckinghamshire Council, Walton Street Office, Walton Street, Aylesbury, Bucks, HP20
1UA
Link to Website:
View Planning Applications
https://publicaccess.buckscc.gov.uk/online-applications/
Advice on Making Planning Applications
https://www.buckscc.gov.uk/services/environment/planning/make-a-planning-application/

From: Alistair Flatman
March 2020 16:47
To: David Periam
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: Canceled: Pre-application conference call - Olleco site

Alistair Flatman (MRTPI)
Director

Disclaimer
Any views expressed in this email are those of the individual sender and are not necessarily those of
the Council unless explicitly stated.
This email and any attachments may contain confidential or privileged information and is intended
solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom it is addressed. Any confidential, sensitive or
protectively marked material must be handled accordingly.
If you are not the intended recipient you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print or rely on any of the
information contained in the email or attachments, and all copies must be deleted immediately. If you
do receive this email in error please notify the sender immediately and note that confidentiality or
privilege is not waived or lost.
The Council may monitor the contents of emails sent and received via its network for the purposes of
ensuring compliance with relevant legislation and the Council’s policies and procedures. All such
monitoring will take place in accordance with relevant legislation including privacy and data protection
legislation. For details of how the Council uses personal information please see the Council’s website.
This email and any attachments have been scanned for viruses. But the Council does not accept any

Page 126

responsibility for viruses once this email has been transmitted. You should therefore carry out your
own anti-virus checks before opening any documents.

Page 127

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix G
From:
To:
Cc:
Subject:
Date:
Attachments:

David Periam
Alistair Flatman
Mitchel Pugh; Suzanne Winkels
RE: [EXTERNAL] Olleco - s73 - con 9
22 April 2020 16:20:59
image001.jpg

Hello Alistair,
As discussed, I think it would be an opportunity to simplify the proposed wording of the
condition to that necessary to control any planning harm. Therefore my suggested
wording, is:
a) No waste shall be imported and processed through the Anaerobic Digestion
Facility other than food waste and any associated packaging.

b) No waste shall be imported to the Materials Recycling Facility other than
general waste and packaging from developments operating within Use Classes A3
and A5.

Alternatively, if it is considered desirable to retain the reference to a single source then:
b) No waste shall be imported to the Materials Recycling Facility other than
general waste and packaging from a single source quick service restaurant chain,
the details of which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to first importation.

The supporting Planning Statement should make it clear why the proposed wording is
being brought forward and why it is considered it will ensure the necessary control of the
potential harm arising from the development which the condition was originally intended
to address through the reason given for it in the decision notice.
Clearly I have to caveat that this comment is provided in the spirit of being positive and
creative in accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF and is without prejudice to the
determination of the application.
Thanks,
David
From: Alistair Flatman
Sent: 20 April 2020 10:51
To: David Periam
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Olleco - s73 - con 9

Page 129

Morning David
Hope you are well
We have looked at the wording for con 9 of the AD consent and looked at
revising the wording - our suggested draft wording is set out below:

a) The waste to be imported and processed at the site will be food waste sourced
from a wide variety of sources including (but not exclusively), from food and drink
catering outlets, retail packaged waste and source segregated household food
waste together with milk from the adjacent dairy.

b) The operation of the Materials Recycling Facility comprises the importing and
processing of general waste and packaging from a single source quick service
restaurant chain

Would welcome your thoughts in advance of submission

kind regards

Alistair

Alistair Flatman (MRTPI)
Director

Image removed by sender.

DISCLAIMER FOR BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL
Any views expressed in this email are those of the individual sender and are not
necessarily those of Buckinghamshire Council unless explicitly stated.

Page 130

This email and any attachments may contain confidential or privileged information
and is intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom it is
addressed. Any confidential, sensitive or protectively marked material must be
handled accordingly.
If you are not the intended recipient you must not disclose, distribute, copy, print or
rely on any of the information contained in the email or attachments, and all copies
must be deleted immediately. If you do receive this email in error please notify the
sender immediately and note that confidentiality or privilege is not waived or lost.
Buckinghamshire Council may monitor the contents of emails sent and received
via its network for the purposes of ensuring compliance with relevant legislation
and the Council’s policies and procedures. All such monitoring will take place in
accordance with relevant legislation including privacy and data protection
legislation. For details of how Buckinghamshire Council uses personal information
please see the Council’s website.
Buckinghamshire Council has scanned this email and attachments for viruses but
does not accept any responsibilities for viruses once this email has been
transmitted. You should therefore carry out your own anti-virus checks before
opening any documents.

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix H
From:
To:
Cc:
Subject:
Date:
Attachments:

Stephen Weston
Alistair Flatman
Ciara O"Donovan; Timothy Tyson; Greenwood, Brian
FW: Odour records and email to Parish Council
07 September 2020 15:01:13
Odour record sheets 27 Aug to 6 Sept.pdf
AYL-AD-WI-132 Odour Monitoring Rev.2 01.09.2019.pdf
Odour record sheets 6 Sept to 13 Sept 2019.pdf

Alistair,
I think it is worth including the e-mail below as it shows that we have shared our odour tours
with BPC before and is evidence that:
a) We have tried to work with BPC
b) Our own odour tours show low levels of odour
c) Our odour tours do not correlate with the complaints being received
The question towards the end of the e-mail which asks to shed light on the discrepancies and our
own odour tours was never responded to.
I will get some updated comments in the mean time.
All the best,
From: Stephen Weston
Sent: 14 October 2019 15:45
To: Fiona Livingston
Cc: Ciara O'Keeffe O'Donovan
Tyson

; Shaun Caulkett
; Sandra Pugh - Olleco (

; Dr. Sergio Blanco-Rosete
Timothy
)

>
Subject: Odour records and email to Parish Council
Dear Fiona
Please find attached our olfactory monitoring record sheets for the period (27th August to 13th
September) as examples of consistently low odour that has been detected by our independent
trained odour assessor. This is for the ‘sniff’ testing that is undertaken on site at the anaerobic
digestion (AD) plant and off site. There are 15 positions in total, 10 on site and 5 off site. The
monitoring positions have been agreed with the Environment Agency. The monitoring points on
site are used to identify possible sources of odour. If we were to record a significant odour on
site, then there is clearly a risk that this could cause an odour off site. The off site locations are
used to check that no odour is escaping off site. I have attached a Work Instruction that
accompanies the record form. This identifies the monitoring locations and the odour scale that
we use.
You will see from the record sheets that whilst we have detected odours at various locations on
site during this period, rated as 2/6 ‘Faint’, there has been zero odour recorded off site at
Position 14 (in Buckland village) and Position 15 (on Samian Way by the roundabout). At Position

Page 133

1, which is on the lane at the closest point to the site, a very faint digestate odour, rated 1/6 was
recorded on several occasions (afternoon of 30 August, mornings of 2 and 4 September,
afternoon of 10 September, morning of 11 and 12 September). This correlates with low level
digestate odours recorded around the storage tanks and the wind blowing to the east. At
Position 2, which is on Samian Way adjacent to the plant, a very faint gassy or non-descript
smell, rated 1/6, was recorded on three occasions (27 August, 5 September, 6 September, 10
September, 12 September). At Position 13 (on the lane by the Arla emergency exit), odour was
only recorded on one occasion very faintly (digestate smell, rated 1/6).
The odour assessor is required to notify the Plant Superintendent if they detect any odour of
intensity 2 (faint odour) or above at any of the off site monitoring points so that further
inspection can be undertaken to investigate the source of the odour on site and, if substantiated,
to identify any corrective actions.
As you may be aware, we have been using an external assessor for the daily weekday
monitoring. Whilst this individual is employed on a part time basis by Olleco they are not
involved with the running of the plant in any way and are purely employed to walk the
monitoring route and record their findings in accordance with the methodology that they have
been trained in by an external specialist company. The objective of employing an external
assessor was to make the routine monitoring as impartial as we can. Unfortunately the personal
circumstances of the current external assessor has changed, meaning that they are no longer
able to perform the role. We have recruited a replacement assessor who is currently being
trained and will take over the daily odour tours.
You will note that these low level/no existent odour values at our site boundary do not correlate
with some of the complaints we have been receiving and any light you can shed on this
discrepancy would be greatly appreciated.
I trust this provides you with the information that you were seeking about the olfactory
monitoring that we are carrying out and reassurance that it is being carried out diligently.
The records are also audited by the Environment Agency periodically to ensure compliance with
our Environmental Permit.

Stephen Weston
Chief Safety & Compliance Officer
Olleco
Serve the planet
Birchall Street, Liverpool
Merseyside, L20 8PD

www.olleco.co.uk

Disclaimer: Registered in England No. 5878742 | Confidentiality: This communication contains information, which is confidential
and may also be privileged. It is for the exclusive use of the intended recipient(s). If you are not the intended recipient(s), please
note that any distribution, copying or use of this communication or the information in it is strictly prohibited. | If you have received this
communication in error, please notify the sender immediately and then destroy any copies of it. Please remember that the Internet is
not a 100% secure communications medium. Although we have taken steps to ensure that this e-mail and any attachments are free
from viruses, we advise that in keeping with good computing practice the recipient should ensure they are actually virus free. |
Olleco will accept no responsibility for any loss in any way from the use of this communication system.

Page 134

Please consider the environment before printing this email

Page 135

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix I

Buckinghamshire Council
Minerals & Waste Team
Walton Street Offices
Walton Street
Aylesbury
HP20 1UA

17 September 2020

FAO Mitchel Pugh / David Periam
Your ref: CM/0022/20
Our Ref: AFP226/s73 Con 9
Dear Sirs
Proposal: Section 73 planning application to vary wording of Condition 9 pursuant to
planning application CM/78/14
Site: Anaerobic Digestion Plant, Samian Way, Aston Clinton – operated by Olleco
REQUEST FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Further to the above application being deferred at Committee on 4 September 2020
and our recent conversation, please see below and attached further information as
requested.
However, before presenting the additional information requested, I have attached
the original emails from your Suzanne Winkels dated 1 April 2020 and David Periam
dated 22 April 2020 which clearly set out the background and reasoning for the
submission of this s73 application.
The relevant extract from Suzanne’s email confirming food waste is copied below
for clarity:
I have read the application documents and it is clear that it was intended that
up to 50,000 tonnes of food waste would be imported to the AD plant from a
range of sources (my emphasis) and that the single source of 80,000 tonnes of
general waste was for the MRF. This seems clear from the Application form, the
Planning Statement and waste statement that support the Decision Notice.
Paragraph 12 of the committee report states this clearly as part of what was
proposed and again this seems explicit in paragraph 153 in the Discussion
section
Whilst these emails were referenced in the cover letter dated 27 April 2020 submitted
with the planning application, we feel it is necessary to include these emails in full as
they are clearly material to the determination of the application. As such it is
important they are made available as part of the application and to Members when
assessing the application.
With regards the additional information requested:

Page 137

Odour Tour Results – Sniff Test Results April – June 2020 and Sept 2019
With regards Odour, please find attached Odour Tour Results carried out by an
independent assessor for the Olleco site - the Odour report shows no odour at our
neighbours nearest boundary. Also enclosed is the methodology used and the
position of the sniff text locations.
The monitoring positions have been agreed with the Environment Agency. The
monitoring points on site are used to identify possible sources of odour. If we were to
record a significant odour on site, then there is clearly a risk that this could cause an
odour off site. The off site locations are used to check that no odour is escaping off
site. This identifies the monitoring locations and the odour scale that we use.
The odour tours are conducted by an independent assessor who is not based on
site. We are only required to conduct one odour tour per day, but complete two
and have also increased and widened the number of odour points beyond what
was required by the Environment Agency. In addition the odour tour logs are
audited periodically by the Environment Agency and no issues have been raised.
Odour Complaints Log – July 2020:
The attached odour log summarises complaints received and actions taken by
Olleco. As set out, there have not been any identified any odour issues or
subsequent breaches with the site permit. We also heard at the committee meeting
that the EA had no objection to the proposal and despite regular visits to site there
have been no odour issues or breaches to Olleco’s permit.
The attached odour log was presented to Rob Butler MP when he visited the site in
August 2020.
EA Update Sept 2020.
In light of the above and matters raised during the life of the application, the
Environment Agency have provided the attached summary of recent site visits in
response to calls made by the public, demonstrating Olleco’s exemplary
compliance record.
Liaison with the Parish Council
In light of the above comments on the Odour Log, please note we have previously
sought to work with the Parish Council to address concerns raised. Attached in an
email sent to the Clerk of the Parish Council in October 2019 which explains how
odour is monitored and recorded on site.
Ricardo Report on Odour – Jan 2019

Page 138

As requested by Members at Committee we also attach a copy of the Hydrogen
Sulphide Monitoring Assessment Report prepared by Ricardo (Odour) Consultants as
part of the assessment off site at our nearest neighbours property. As can be seen
from the report there was for the majority of the time zero odour detected, but on
two occasions and for short duration odour was barely detected, but was so low as
to be on the limit of the detector (one of the most sophisticated on the market).
Since this monitoring has been completed, a further £150k has been spent on odour
improvements.
I hope the above and attached assists and look forward to this application being
determined at Committee on 1 October 2020.
Yours faithfully

Alistair Flatman (MRTPI)
Director
Alistair Flatman Planning Ltd
Enc
Emails from Buckinghamshire Council dated 1 and 22 April 2020
Odour Tour Logs – April – June 2020 and Sept 2019
Odour Complaint log – July 2020
EA reference – Sept 2020
Olleco email to BPC dated 14 Oct 2019
Ricardo Odour Assessment – Jan 2019

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix J

CM/0022/20 Committee Report Addendum
Paragraph 5.2 – When describing the statutory development plan, the following documents
must be included:
Buckland Neighbourhood Plan
Aston Clinton Neighbourhood Plan
Whilst these documents stand to form part of the relevant development plan and must be
described as so, neither document contains policies relevant to the determination of the
application before committee today.
On the 1st September 2020, the Council received further documentation from the applicant
in support of the application:
Environment Agency (EA) Odour Update Note July 2020
Olleco Internal Complaints Log (Redacted to remove personal information)
The log of odour complaints has been redacted further in order to prevent the publication
and distribution of sensitive information. The log presents odour complaints during July
2020; 19 reports between 11th July 2020 – 20th July 2020. The document stands to be useful
in understanding the frequency of potential odour impacts; however the Council as Local
Planning Authority cannot move to substantiate each report as this falls within the remit of
the EA as the Environmental Permit regulator. Of its own volition, the odour complaints log
does not require any revision of the report or its resulting recommendation.
The EA update note provides an overview of the regulatory position in respect of odour
throughout July 2020 in relation to both the application site and the neighbouring Arla dairy
site. Whilst a majority of the note relates the regulatory function of the EA, pollution
control, an incident described within the note is considered to be material to the
consideration of application CM/0022/20. Paragraph 6 of the note reads:
Over the last few months both sites have discovered potential transient odour
sources, either as a result of reports passed to them or from their own site
monitoring. Olleco started to receive a new food waste stream to site which they
found to be particularly odorous - this has now been stopped. Carbon filters are a
principal odour control method at both sites to treat emissions from the processing of
food waste. Both operators have reported some minor issues with carbon filters in
recent months which may have contributed to offsite odours. The operators informed
us that these issues were rectified quickly to prevent any ongoing odorous emissions.
Paragraph 6 of the note establishes the principle that food waste streams inherently present
a varied level of existing odour. In the specific incident outlined, the operator took
operational steps to prevent that particular waste stream being utilised at the site. Whilst

Page 141

the action taken by the operator forms to be an active part of an odour abatement strategy,
no reference of such an approach is found within the approved Odour Management
Strategy (as required by Condition 18 of CM/78/14); the inference of this suggests that the
approved strategy doesn’t encompass the entirety of odour management measures
required to sufficiently control odour events at the site. The disparity between the approved
strategy and the active control of odour at the site should be addressed should planning
permission be granted to the current application to ensure the development as approved
accurately reflects the development as carried out. The aforementioned disparity can be
adequately addressed by updating the existing Odour Management Strategy (Condition 18)
should planning permission be granted to the current application; such an update should
include explicit reference to the distinct waste streams utilised within the Anaerobic
Digestion facility and Materials Recycling Facility respectively. An update to the approved
strategy should also include measures to identify, isolate and/or restrict waste
streams/sources that form to be inherently odorous. As such, the recommendation
contained at the head of this report and repeated within section 9 of the report, is amended
to address this.
:
Condition 18 of CM/78/14 states:
No part of the development shall be commenced until details of the odour control
strategy specifying the provisions to be made for the control of odour have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The odour
control strategy shall be implemented thereafter in accordance with the approved
details for the duration of the development.
The recommendation of this report, proposes to revise the existing wording of Condition 18
with the following;
Within 3 months of the date of this planning consent an update to the existing Odour
Management Strategy (Approved 17th September 2015) shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Planning Authority. The updated strategy shalld include reference to the
following aspects:




Specific odour sources within the waste streams presented in the Anaerobic Digestion
Facility and Materials Recycling Facility , respectively
Measures in place at the site in order to identify , isolate and/or restrict inherently
odorous waste streams
Any additional odour control strategies and/or features that have been implemented
following the approval of the existing Odour Management Strategy (Approved 17 th
September 2015)

Page 142

The updated Odour Management Strategy shall be implemented thereafter in accordance
with the approved details for the duration of the development.

Amended Recommendation
Subject to the applicant entering in to an appropriate S. 106 Planning Obligation to apply
the requirements with regard to routeing and the catchment area for the collection of
waste the Strategic Sites Committee INDICATES SUPPORT for application CM/0022/20
with the imposition of an alternative condition 9 being as proposed in the application
and to the other existing conditions attached to planning permission CM/78/14 with any
amendments to reflect the subsequent discharge of conditions and to condition 18 being
amended to read as follows:
Within 3 months of the date of this planning consent an update to the existing Odour
Management Strategy (Approved 17th September 2015) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The updated strategy shall include
reference to the following aspects:




Specific odour sources within the waste streams presented in the Anaerobic
Digestion Facility and Materials Recycling Facility , respectively
Measures in place at the site in order to identify , isolate and/or restrict
inherently odorous waste streams
Any additional odour control strategies and/or features that have been
implemented following the approval of the existing Odour Management Strategy
(Approved 17th September 2015)

The updated Odour Management Strategy shall be implemented thereafter in
accordance with the approved details for the duration of the development.

DELEGATES Authority to the Service Director for Planning and Environment to determine the
Application.

Page 143

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Report to Strategic Sites Planning Committee
Site location:

Land To The South Of Aston Clinton Road Weston Turville

Proposal:
Application Number:
Applicant:
Case Officer:
Ward affected:
Parish-Town Council:
Valid Date:
Determination date:

Erection of 121 dwellings with access and associated infrastructure
18/02495/APP
CALA Homes (Chiltern) Ltd
Mr Jon Bishop
ASTON CLINTON AND BIERTON WARD
WESTON TURVILLE
13 December 2019
13 March 2020

Recommendation:
Permission be Deferred and Delegated to officers subject to the satisfactory completion of a
S106 agreement to secure financial contributions towards primary and secondary education
provision, off site sport and leisure provision, provision on site of open space and LEAP,
commuted sum for maintenance of on-site sport and leisure provision, affordable Housing
(30%) provision on site, sustainable transport improvements and travel plan

1. Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration
1.1.

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 121 dwellings on this
greenfield site on the edge of Aylesbury, within Weston Turville Parish.

Page 145

1.2.

The proposal site is located outside of the settlement boundary defined in the Weston
Turville Neighbourhood Plan where development proposals will not be permitted
unless they meet certain criteria. This includes ‘other than for development as part of
the growth of Aylesbury as defined in the emerging Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan’. Since
this site forms part of an allocated site within the emerging VALP, namely AGT4, it
would be regarded as not in conflict with Policy H1 of the WTNP nor would it conflict
with other policies in the Development Plan.

1.3.

It is acknowledged that the proposal would offer significant benefits in terms of its
contribution to the Council’s housing land supply and affordable housing, economic
benefits as a result of population growth and investment in construction and the local
economy/businesses and community benefits as a result of the proposed on-site open
space and play provision.

1.4.

Special regard has been given to the statutory test of preserving the setting of listed
buildings under section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act
1990, which is accepted is a higher duty. These proposed development would represent
the significant development of the site, however, given the distance between and
intervening development and landscaping, it is considered that the setting of the listed
building would be preserved in accordance with the Act. and the heritage aspects of
the NPPF.

1.5.

Compliance with some of the other objectives of the NPPF has been in terms of the
highway impact, biodiversity, flooding, heritage, design, safe and secure
neighbourhoods and residential amenities and these are considered neutral.

1.6.

There would be some localised impact on visual amenities but adequate landscape
mitigation can reduce that impact over time.

1.7.

This assessment identifies that various s106 planning obligations would need to be
secured to make the schemes acceptable and mitigate its impact in accordance with
relevant Development Plan policy and guidance as well as the NPPF if the council was
minded to approve the application. These obligations include:

Page 146

•

Financial contribution towards primary and secondary education provision

•

Financial contribution for off site sport and leisure provision

•

Provision on site of open space and LEAP

•

Commuted sum for maintenance of on-site sport and leisure provision

•

Affordable Housing (30%) provision on site

•

Monitoring contribution

•

Sustainable transport improvements and travel plan

•

Off-site highways works which are the subject of any separate s278 agreement

1.8

A whole life maintenance scheme for the SuDS

1.9

It is considered that the proposed development would not represent a conflict with the
settlement boundary policy H1 of the WTNP, or other relevant policies in the
Development Plan. There are no other material considerations that indicate a decision
other than in accordance with the Development Plan.

1.10

Under section 2.5 of the constitution officers consider the exercise of delegated powers
is not appropriate in this instance given the site forms part of a wider strategic emerging
allocation in VALP which has not yet been adopted and it would be appropriate for this
to be considered by members.

2.0

Description of Proposed Development
Application site:

2.1

The site is located to east of Aylesbury and is on the southern side of Aston Clinton
Road, A41. Surrounding the site is currently largely green field/ agricultural land and
envelops an existing large detached residential dwelling and garden area (No 52), and to
the east lies frontage development of detached hoses the nearest of which is No66.
Immediately to the west of the site is the residential dwellings in Burnhams Fields, the
Holiday Inn hotel and conference center, with its car park, and adjacent to this, to its
west and south. There are residential dwellings on the southern and northern sides of
Aston Clinton Road.

2.2

The site is broadly rectangular in shape and it currently comprises agricultural grazing
land and is 6.06ha in size. The site is bordered by hedgerows with some trees along the
site boundaries. Broughton Barn is a Grade II listed building and located immediately
adjacent to the west of the site. To the north-east of the site, on the opposite side of the
A41, development is now under construction).

Page 147

2.3

The site falls within Flood Zone 1, and there is considered low probability of fluvial
flooding.
Proposed development:

2.4

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 121 dwellings, public
open space, play area, landscaping, vehicular access off Aston Clinton Road and
associated infrastructure. The application has been the subject to a number of
amendments during the course of the application which are summarised as follows:

2.5

The application site is 6.05 hectares, increased by 1.5 hectares in order to incorporate
open space and landscaping to the east, within the red edge. In addition, there were
revisions to the road layout and additional vehicular access were provided through the
neighbouring development to the south west to allow for a connection through to New
Road. Both of these changes required an amendment to the red line and a full
consultation was carried out following the submission of these amended plans.

2.6

The application as originally submitted proposed 108 dwellings, following the
amendments to the application the proposal is now for the erection of 121 dwellings
with associated open space and landscaping. The proposal provides for affordable
housing at a level of 30% which is policy compliant. The overall housing mix comprises 5
x 1 bed, 34 x 2 bed, 57 x 3 bed and 35 x 4bed units

2.7

Open space is provided to the eastern and southern part of the site including SUDs
features. Amendments have been made to the site layout to provide an improved
housing mix, a greater set back from the A41, redesign of apartment block and parking
court, amendments to means of rear garden access, parking provision and increased
landscaping.

2.8

The key amendments in respect of the access strategy now propose:
2 points of vehicular connection through to New Road, via the south western portion of
the application site; linking to the adjacent residential development, and
A further access comprising left turn exit only onto the A41 to the western part of the
frontage;

2.9

The updated Transport Assessment, provides full assessment of the revised access
strategy. It includes the following:
•

Details of proposed site access (relocated to the western part of the frontage);

Page 148

•
•
•

Updated forecast vehicular trips to reflect the submitted development proposal;
Junction capacity assessments; and
Details of commensurate and viable mitigation measures which can be secured by
planning obligation.

Detailed access drawings are set out in the report’s appendices.
2.10

The proposal is predominantly 2 or 2.5 storey, there is one block of apartments on the
northern edge of the layout fronting the A41 which is a 3 storey building. The dwellings
would be set back from the site frontage behind open space and an internal road and
comprise a mix of detached, semi detached and terraced housing within a series of
blocks.

2.11

It is proposed to construct the dwellings from traditional building materials,
predominantly red multi stock brick with some use of render to add visual interest. The
roof materials will be a mix of traditional brown plain clay roof tiles and grey slate. All of
the proposed dwelling houses have a private rear garden with communal amenity
provided for the apartment block.

2.12

Parking is provided primarily on plot in the form of a small driveway and a garage with
some additional parking provided on street or adjacent to the dwellings it is to serve.

3.0

Relevant Planning History
The application site:

3.1

16/03388/AOP - Outline application with access to be considered and all other matters
reserved for the erection of up to 108 dwellings (Revised Plans and Documents
submitted 20/06/2018). – Pending consideration

3.2

Adjacent site:
The surrounding area has been subject to a number of recent planning applications for
residential development.
18/00388/ADP - Land East Of New Road Weston Turville Buckinghamshire Application
for reserve matters pursuant to outline planning permission 14/02072/AOP relating to
access, appearance, landscaping, scale and layout for the erection of 64 dwellings,
public open space and associated infrastructure
17/00533/ADP - Land East Of New Road Weston Turville Buckinghamshire Application
for reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 14/02072/AOP relating to access,
appearance, landscaping, scale and layout for the erection of 64 dwellings, public open
space, attenuation basin and associated infrastructure – Approved

Page 149

14/02072/AOP - Land East Of New Road Weston Turville Buckinghamshire Outline
planning application with all matters reserved for the erection of up to 64 dwellings,
public open space, attenuation basin and associated infrastructure - Approved
3.3

South side of the A41/ West side of New Road:
13/01488/AOP - Land Adjacent To Aston Clinton Road Weston Turville Buckinghamshire
Outline application with all matters reserved. Site for 135 dwellings with associated
public open space, new vehicular, pedestrian & cycle accesses, landscaping and drainage
works – Approved
16/01254/ADP - Land Adjacent To Aston Clinton Road Weston Turville Buckinghamshire
Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 13/01488/AOP relating to
access, appearance, layout, scale and landscaping for the erection of 135 dwellings with
associated public open space, new vehicular, pedestrian & cycle accesses, landscaping
and drainage works
16/00424/AOP Outline planning application (with all matters reserved) for a mixed-use
sustainable urban extension comprising: up to 3,000 dwellings and a 60 bed care
home/extra care facility (Use Class C2/C3); provision of land for a Park and Ride site; a
total of 6.90ha of employment land (comprising of up to 29,200 sq.m. B1c/B1/B2/B8
uses); provision of two primary schools (one 2 form entry and one 3 form entry); a
mixed use local centre (3.75ha) with provision for a foodstore of up to 1,200 square
metres (GFA), further retail (including a pharmacy), restaurant and café units, a doctor's
surgery, gym, public house with letting rooms, professional services, multi-functional
community space and a day nursery, and live work units; multi-functional green
infrastructure (totalling 108.43ha) including parkland, sports pitches, sports pavilions,
children's play areas, mixed use games areas, including a skate park/BMX facility,
informal open space, allotments, community orchards, landscaping; extensions to
domestic gardens at Tamarisk Way (0.22ha); strategic flood defences and surface water
attenuation; vehicular access points from New Road, Marroway, A413 Wendover Road
and A41 Aston Clinton Road; a dualled Southern Link Road between A413 Wendover
Road and A41 Aston Clinton Road and a strategic link road between the Southern Link
Road and Marroway; internal roads, streets, lanes, squares, footpaths and cycleways
and upgrades to Public Rights Of Ways (PRoWs); and car parking related to the above
land uses, buildings and facilities. Land between Wendover Road And Aston Clinton
Road Weston Turville. Resolution to grant permission subject to completion of a legal
agreement in October 2017.

3.4

North side of the A41:
15/03806/AOP: Outline application with principal means of access to be considered and
all other matters reserved for the construction of up to 400 dwellings (C3 use class),
Hotel, Pub and/or Restaurant (C1/A3 use class), extra care housing (C2/C3 use class)
(80bed), 5,000 square metres of employment floorspace (B1 use class), a local centre
(A1/A2/A3 use class). Public open space, play areas, water meadow and associated

Page 150

infrastructure including roads. Land North Of Aston Clinton Road, (Former Aston Clinton
MDA Site)
18/01277/ADP - Land North Of Aston Clinton Road (Former Aston Clinton Road MDA
Site) Weston Turville Buckinghamshire Approval of reserved matters (appearance,
landscaping, layout and scale) for 146 dwellings and local centre retail unit pursuant to
outline permission 15/03806/AOP – Approved (other reserved matters for this site have
also been submitted)
17/04819/AOP -Westonmead Farm Aston Clinton Road Weston Turville
Buckinghamshire HP22 5AB Outline application with all matters reserved except for
principle means of vehicular access, for up to 157 dwellings, public open space, play
area, vehicular access off Aston Clinton Road and associated infrastructure.- Approved
16/01040/AOP - Aylesbury Woodland, College Road North, Aston Clinton Outline
application with means of access (in part) to be considered for up to 102,800 sq m
employment (B1/B2/B8), up to 1,100 dwellings (C3), 60 residential extra care units (C2),
mixed-use local centre of up to 4,000 sq m (A1/A2/A5/D1), up to 5,700 sq m hotel and
Conference Centre (C1), up to 3,500 sq m Leisure facilities (A1/A3/A4), up to 16 ha for
sports village and pitches, Athletes Accommodation (10 x 8 apartments), and up to 2 ha
for a primary school (D1), with a strategic link road connecting with the ELR (N) and the
A41 Aston Clinton Road, transport infrastructure, landscape, open space, flood
mitigation and drainage.
4.0

Representations
Weston Turville and Aston Clinton Parish Council have objected, and 2 letters of
objection have been received. Whilst these objections have been more clearly set out
below in Appendix A, the key concerns are development outside settlement boundaries,
impact on traffic, congestion, and infrastructure .

5.0

Policy Considerations and Evaluation
Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan (AVDLP 2004): The report will identify where policies
are not consistent with the NPPF and the weight to be afforded if not full weight.
Weston Turville Neighbourhood Plan made on 8th August 2018 (WTNP)
Emerging Vale of Aylesbury District Local Plan (VALP): This is now at an advanced stage
and weight can be given to the relevant policies in the plan in accordance with the
NPPF. The overall approach is:
• Limited weight: if there is a new and untested policy introduced by a main
modification and subject to consultation.
• Moderate weight :where there are objections and the Inspector has requested main
modifications and therefore objections can be regarded as being “resolved”. The

Page 151

•
•

context being that the Inspector has considered the proposed modifications and in
agreeing them for consultation, has confirmed that he is reasonably satisfied that
they remedy the points of unsoundness identified in the examination process so far
(as set out in Inspector’s note ED185).
Considerable weight : where there are objections but the Inspector has not
requested main modifications (and as such the policy will not be changed in a
material way) and the objections can therefore be regarded as being “resolved”.
Significant weight :where there are no objections and no modifications. These
policies are not going to be changed and the next step will be adoption and very
significant weight.

The report will identify the weight to be given to the relevant emerging policies.
The National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Policy Guidance
Principle and location of development
Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan: GP35 (Design of new development proposals)
Weston Turville Neighbourhood Plan: Policy H1 Weston Turville Settlement Boundaries
Emerging Vale of Aylesbury District Local Plan (VALP): S1 (Sustainable development for
Aylesbury Vale) (s considerable weight); S2 (Spatial strategy for growth), S3 (Settlement
hierarchy and cohesive development) (moderate weight), D1 Delivering Aylesbury
Garden Town ( moderate weight), BE2(Design of new development) ( moderate weight)
5.1

Policy H1 of the WTNP designates the settlement boundary for the three areas of
Weston Turville (Aston Clinton Road, Wendover Road and Hampden Hall and lastly
Weston Turville Village) for the purpose of enabling development within the boundary
and directing the physical growth of the settlements over the plan period. Policy H1
states that development proposals for small scale development of up to 12 houses
within the defined settlement boundaries of Weston Turville will be supported,
provided the proposals meet the other policies of this Neighbourhood Plan and
Aylesbury Vale Local Plan. Development proposals (other than for rural housing
exception schemes, or development as part of the growth of Aylesbury as defined in the
emerging Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan), will not be permitted on land outside the
Settlement Boundaries unless a number of criteria are met.

5.2

In this instance, the proposed development would be outside of the settlement
boundary designated for Aston Clinton Road but it does lie within an allocated site,
AGT4: Aylesbury south of A41, within the emerging VALP.

Page 152

5.3

It is worth noting that AVDLP Policy RA.14 which seek to restrict development to smallscale rounding off at Appendix 4 settlements (not including Aylesbury) is not regarded
as relevant into this application.

5.4

The site is allocated for development as part of AGT4 in emerging VALP which comprises
Hampden Fields (218ha), Land adjacent to Aston Clinton Holiday Inn (5.79ha) and Land
at New Road, Weston Turville (1.7ha). AGT4 anticipates delivery of the following:
• Around 3,111dwellings
• 60-bed care home/extra care facility
• Land for a park & ride site
• 6.90ha of employment land
• Two primary schools
• A mixed use local centre
• Multi-functional green infrastructure (totalling 108.43ha)
• Strategic flood defences and surface water attenuation
• A dualled Southern Link Road between A413 Wendover Road and A41 Aston
Clinton Road and a strategic link road between the Southern Link Road and
Marroway
• Cycling and walking links

5.5

In respect of the location of the site and transport sustainability, the site is located on
one of the strategic highway networks serving the District and there is access to nearby
bus stops with bus routes serving Aylesbury, Wendover, Tring, Ivinghoe, Cheddington,
Winslow and Buckingham. The train station is approximately 3.4km to the west of the
site. Several other developments have been supported in the locality and it is
considered that this site is also sustainably located having regard to these. Furthermore
the site is recognised in VALP (part), the WTNP and the emerging VALP as being a
sustainable location for development.

5.6

Aylesbury was given “Garden Town" status in January 2017 as the focus of the majority
of the growth for the Vale. The vision for Aylesbury Garden Town builds on the
principles of sustainable development with the delivery of high quality new homes, new
jobs, new transport improvements, and community infrastructure, open space and
recreation.

5.7

The vision for Aylesbury Garden Town (AGT) is set around the principles of being a

Page 153

flourishing settlement that offers the best of town and country living, where growth in
housing and jobs go hand in hand and create opportunities for the small and medium
size builders and custom build developers to create an offering that meets the needs of
our growing community. By 2033, the AGT will have grown significantly by reusing
previously-developed sites and by developing a well designed, connected, safe and
integrated series of urban extensions ( including this site), creating a well connected
network of thriving, vibrant communities. It would be an inclusive, innovative and
forward looking modern county town that meets the needs and aspirations of existing
and new residents, businesses and visitors. Aylesbury will be a key hub, a place to visit,
with public transport and interchange offering a diverse choice of travel modes, and a
recognised centre for investment and growth providing new jobs and opportunities for
all.
5.8

The proposed development would be outside of the settlement boundary designated

for Aston Clinton Road area but it does lie within an allocated site, AGT4: Aylesbury
south of A41, within the emerging VALP. As such it forms part of the growth of
Aylesbury in VALP and would not be in conflict with policy H1 of the Neighbourhood
Plan, in terms of the principle of development

5.9

The latest Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Statement for the Aylesbury Vale area
was published April 2019, based on March 2018 data, which shows that the Council can
demonstrate 5.64 years worth of deliverable housing supply against its local housing
need in this area. This calculation is derived from the new standard methodology
against the local housing need and definition of deliverable sites set out in the NPPF
and NPPG.

5.10

The proposal would contribute to housing land supply which would be a significant
benefit. It is considered that there would also be economic benefits in terms of the
construction of the dwellings themselves as well as the resultant increase in population
which would contribute to the local economy, and this is afforded moderate weight

5.11

As set out later in the report the Highway Authority are requesting that the S106
includes a package of off site mitigation measures. It is considered that these measures
would enhance the existing locational sustainability of the site further.

5.12

Affordable housing and housing mix
AVDLP – Policy GP2
SPD – Affordable Housing
Emerging policy D1 Delivering Aylesbury Garden Town ( moderate weight), H6a Housing
Mix (moderate weight)
The following mix of affordable and market housing is proposed:

Page 154

Market Housing
1 x bed flat
2 bed flat
2 bed house
3 bed house
4 bed house
5 bed house
Total

Number

Percentage

HEDNA %

0
0
15
46
24
0
85

0%
0%
17%
54%
28%
0%

4%
4%
13%
52%
21%
6.5%

Percentage

HEDNA %

Affordable Housing Number

1 x bed flat
5
13%
2 bed flat
6
16%
2 bed house
13
36%
3 bed house
11
30%
4 bed house
1
2%
5 bed house
0
0%
Total
36
n.b. percentages may not equal 100% due to rounding

9%
6%
38%
38%
9%
0%

5.13

A good overall mix of housing is provided and it is considered that overall the
development would make a significant contribution to housing supply, including the
provision of a policy compliant level of affordable housing at 30%. The affordable
housing is located in different areas of the site ensuring it meets the councils
requirements on pepper-potting and clustering. The housing officer is satisfied with the
proposed affordable housing provision with a tenure mix of 75% rented and 25% shared
ownership. These matters are to be secured as part of the S106 and on this basis the
development would accord with the Development Plan policy and the NPPF in this
regard. Whilst the site does not deliver self or custom build there are provisions made in
the remainder of the emerging AGT4 allocation to accommodate this.

5.14

There is no reason that the site could not be delivered within the next five-year period
and the provision of affordable housing would also be a significant benefit. As such it is
considered that the development would accord with Policy H4 of the WTNP, Policy GP2
of the AVDLP, emerging VALP policy D1 and H6a and the NPPF.

5.15

Transport matters and parking
AVDLP GP24 (Car parking guidelines), SPG1: Parking Guidelines

5.16

Emerging VALP policies D1 Delivering Aylesbury Garden Town ( moderate weight) T5
(Delivering transport in new development) and T6 (Vehicle parking), Appendix B (Parking
Standards) ( moderate weight)

Page 155

5.17

WTNP Policy T1 states that development proposals should demonstrate that they can
deliver appropriate site access and traffic mitigation through agreement with the
Highways and Planning Authorities to minimise adverse effects on the local traffic
network. Development contributions will be sought to pay for highway mitigation. Policy
T2: Strategy for improving pedestrian and cycle connections within the Parish and to
surrounding area, states that proposals must demonstrate how existing sustainable
transport links can be accessed on the site and where necessary secure improvements
to ensure safe access for pedestrians and cyclists. Policy T3: Encourage better planning
of public transport, of the WTNP states that where proposals are likely to have a
significant impact on the local highway network a sustainable transport strategy will be
required and developments must secure improvements to ensure sustainable transport
connections are incorporated into the scheme. Furthermore new developments should
be proximate to a bus stop and linked to that stop by a footpath.

5.18

Policy T4 of the emerging VALP states that proposals for new development will only be
permitted if the necessary mitigation is provided against any unacceptable transport
impacts which arise from the development. Policy T6 of the emerging VALP requires
that Development must provide an appropriate level of parking, taking into account the
accessibility of the site, including the availability of public transport, and the type, mix
and use of development. These policies are afforded moderate weight.
Public transport

5.19

As part of the Weston Mead Farm development it is proposed to relocate the
westbound bus stop further to the east of the junction of New Road/Aston Clinton Road
access. The eastbound stop will remain in its current location, approximately 300m to
the west of the site (approximately 4 minutes walk). The westbound bus stop is 420m
(approximately 5 minutes walk) with pedestrians accessing this by the controlled
crossing that forms part of the traffic signalled controlled access to the MDA site.
Although some of the dwellings are not within 400 metres walking distance from the
eastbound bus stop, the vast majority are, and all dwellings are within 400 metres of the
westbound bus stop. Moving the bus stop further east would disadvantage the residents
from the proposed MDA site. The distances to the bus stops are therefore considered
acceptable.
Site Access

5.20

There would be three accesses to the site. wo points of vehicular access are provided
through to New Road, via the south western portion of the application site, and the
adjacent development which was granted permission for 64 dwellings. There would be a
further access from the A41 provided in the north western corner of the site. This will be

Page 156

a left turn exit only onto the A41 with a right turn out movement prevented by a splitter
island, and a no right turn sign.. Right turning development traffic out of the site will
need to travel through the adjacent site through to New Road / A41 signalised junction.

5.21

Highways have confirmed that the applicant will have to include a no right turn sign as
the width of the A41 is such that, even with the splitter island in place, a right turn could
potentially be possible. A Traffic Regulation Order is required to restrict the access to
left out only. Highways have confirmed that ff this signage is included, it is considered
that the access arrangements are adequate for the proposed development.
Traffic Generation

5.22

The trip rates used by the applicant in the Highways Technical Note correspond to the
agreed Hampden Fields trip rates. Highways have confirmed that they consider that
these trip rates are appropriate on the condition that the development mix corresponds
with the proposed mix in the Transport Assessment.

5.23

The following junctions have been assessed by highways using data from the Aylesbury
Transport Model 2020 (ATM):
• New Road / Site Access
• A41 / Site Access
• A41/ Bedgrove/ Broughton Lane

Page 157

• A41/ New Road / MDA Access
• New Road / Main Street mini-roundabout
5.24

The A41/ Bedgrove/ Broughton Lane junction and the A41/ New Road / MDA Access
junction have been modelled as one linked LINSIG model.

5.25

The following scenarios have been assessed with turning movement flows from the
updated ATM:
• Standalone 2036 do minimum scenario
• Standalone 2036 with proposed development
• Cumulative (2036 do minimum scenario plus all live strategic applications and
commitments) without proposed development
• Cumulative (as above) with proposed development
• With growth outlined within the Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan (VALP) and cumulative
developments including the proposed development (sensitivity test)

New Road / Site Access
5.26

The New Road / site access (LEONR access) is currently under construction and will be a
priority T junction. Highways have confirmed that the geometry and entry data have
been checked and found to be correct. Table 6.2 of Technical Note TN04A demonstrates
that the application will increase the RFC by 1% in the AM and 6% in the PM on the site
access arm and by 1% on New Road in the AM peak hour and 3% in the PM peak hour.
Tables 6.3 to 6.5 of the Technical Note demonstrate that the site access will operate
within capacity in the cumulative and VALP scenarios with development, with minimal
queueing and a maximum RFC of 5% only. It can therefore be concluded that the
operation of the New Road / Site Access junction is acceptable.
A41 / Site Access

5.27

The proposed ghost island right turn lane priority junction with the A41 (right turn
movement out of the site access banned). Highways have confirmed that the geometry
and entry data have been checked and found to be correct. Tables 6.6 to 6.8 of the
Technical Note demonstrate that the site access will operate within capacity in all
scenarios. The RFC on the site access arm varies between 6% and 7% in the three
different scenarios, while the RFC on the A41 right turn arm is a maximum of 10% in the
PM peak hour in the Standalone with development scenario and reduces to 5% in the
Cumulative with development scenario. It can therefore be concluded that the
operation of the A41 / Site Access ghost island priority junction (with right turn
movements out of the site access banned) is acceptable.
A41 Linked Signal Controlled Junctions with Bedgrove, Broughton Lane, New Road and
the MDA.

Page 158

5.28

The standalone model that has been used is the same as that used for the Westonmead
Farm proposal, although additional zones have been added between the New Road and
Broughton/Bedgrove junctions, The standalone LINSIG model has been reviewed. The
model includes the existing layout for the A41/ Bedgrove / Richmond road / Broughton
Lane junction and the proposed MDA junction for the A41/ New Road / MDA junction of
the model layout, as shown in Appendix G. This layout has also been used in the
assessment of the consented Westonmead Farm scheme. Table 6.9 of the Technical
Note shows that the junctions will operate significantly over capacity on the A41 East
and the Bedgrove arms of the Bedgrove junction in the AM peak hour as well as
Broughton Lane and the A41 East arm of the Broughton Lane junction. Broughton Lane
also operates significantly over capacity in the PM peak hour.

5.29

Table 6.10 of the Technical Note shows the results of 2036 standalone with
development traffic. The development traffic increases the degree of saturation on
Bedgrove by 7.9% in the AM peak hour from 153.7 to 161.6 with an increase in queue
length of 8 vehicles. However, other arms such as Broughton Lane show a slight
improvement and the practical reserve capacity (overall capacity on the junctions)
improves slightly from -167.8% to -165.4% in the morning peak hour and from -119.0%
to -108.1% in the evening peak hour. Highways have confirmed that whilst the impacts
of development are relatively small, the existing significant levels of congestion and
delay at the junction mean that mitigation measures should be considered.

5.30

The Cumulative Scenario has been modelled with the agreed improvement scheme
associated with the Hampden Fields and Aylesbury Woodlands developments, which
was also previously agreed for this development. This includes the diversion of the Tring
Road (Service Road) arm of the junction from A41 to Broughton Lane. The modelling of
the A41 Linked Signal Controlled Junctions with Bedgrove, Broughton Lane, New Road
and the MDA standalone scenario with the existing layout demonstrated that the
junction would operate above its operating capacity. Whilst the impacts of development
are relatively small, the existing levels of congestion and delay at the junction mean that
mitigation measures should be considered.

5.31

The Cumulative Scenario has been modelled with the agreed improvement scheme
associated with the Hampden Fields and Aylesbury Woodlands developments, which
was also previously agreed for this development. This includes the diversion of the Tring
Road (Service Road) arm of the junction from A41 to Broughton Lane.

5.32

The modelling showed that there would be a small increase in levels of queuing and
delay at the junctions with the development traffic. The Cumulative Scenario with the
agreed improvement measures operates significantly better than the Do Minimum
Scenario without the improvements. Highway officers therefore consider it is necessary
for the applicant to commit to the agreed Bedgrove/Broughton Lane/A41 improvements
if the Aylesbury Woodlands and Hampden Fields proposals do not go forward.

Page 159

5.33

The VALP cumulative situation includes infrastructure improvements on other parts of
the highway network as proposed only as part of Policy T3, as modified in the draft
VALP. The modelling showed that the results are still considerably better than the 2036
Do Minimum Situation and subject to the improvements the cumulative impacts of
development continue to be acceptable.
New Road / Main Street mini roundabout

5.34

The Technical Note states that geometric parameters used are as modelled within the
Hampden Fields and Aylesbury Woodlands Cumulative Assessment Common Descriptive
Report, dated April 2017. The geometry has been checked and found to be in line with
Hampden Fields and Aylesbury Woodlands. Flows have been checked and no data entry
errors have been found. Table 6.14 from the Technical Note shows that in the 2036
standalone scenario the mini roundabout is operating above operational capacity with
maximum RFCs of 92% in the AM peak hour and 94% in the PM peak hour.

5.35

The New Road / Main Street mini roundabout will be operating above operational
capacity in the 2036 standalone scenario with maximum RFCs of 92% in the AM peak
hour and 94% in the PM peak hour. In the cumulative scenario the mini-roundabout will
operate above theoretical capacity in the AM peak hour on the New Road arm with an
RFC of 1.18 and queue length of 85 vehicles. The RFC increases by 2% and the queue
length by 8 vehicles which is now predicted to be 93 vehicles with development. The
operation of the mini roundabout worsens in the VALP scenario with and RFC of 1.30
and queue length increasing to 121 vehicles in the AM peak hour on New Road. The
roundabout will also exceed operational capacity in the PM peak hour on the Main
Street arm.

5.36

As the development traffic adds to the queuing on this roundabout highway officers are
concerned about the impacts on this junction. Some form of mitigation is therefore
required and it is considered most appropriate to attempt to reinforce the existing
traffic calming to discourage traffic from using the routes through the village rather than
increasing capacity. Increasing capacity could attract more traffic to the area contrary to
the aims of the link road strategy and based on previous discussions, the views of the
Parish Council.

5.37

In terms of mitigation at this junction it is considered most appropriate to attempt to
reinforce the existing traffic calming to discourage traffic from using the routes through
the village rather than increasing capacity. Increasing capacity could attract more traffic
to the area contrary to the aims of the link road strategy and based on previous
discussions, the strong views of the Parish Council. A draft traffic calming scheme
drawing CTP 15-174/SK11 was submitted on the 21st August and discussed with Weston

Page 160

Turville Parish Council. BC and the Parish Council requested a number of amendments
and a revised plan Drawing 15-174-SK11A was submitted on the 18th September 2020.
The drawing includes a gateway feature at the entrance to Weston Turville and two
junction tables, at Fitkins Meadow and at Walton Place. This proposed traffic calming
scheme is considered acceptable and in line with the requirements discussed with the
PC.

5.38

A Full Travel Plan to be submitted and agreed by the Local Planning Authority following
consultation with the Local Highway Authority to be in general accordance with
“Buckinghamshire Council Sustainable Travel Pans Guidelines for Developers”. The
approved Travel Plan shall be implemented prior to occupation of the proposed
development.

5.39

Off-site Mitigation

5.40

Westonmead Farm (19/00619/AOP) received planning permission on 28th May 2020.
Additional mitigation was agreed as part of that planning application to extend the two
lane exit from the MDA/New Road junction eastwards along the A41, thereby moving
the merge further away from the junction and reducing the bottleneck effect on the exit
from the junction which has an impact on lane usage, queuing and delay. The location of
the new merge is adjacent to 101 Aston Clinton Road, approximately 320m east of the
existing merge. This would provide a sufficient distance to ensure the merge does not
affect the A41 / New Road / MDA junction and encourage the use of both lanes at the
junction, reducing congestion and delay. This development will need to commit to the
same improvements along the A41. Highways have confirmed that there is no objection
subject to securing the mitigation measures set out below:

•

Travel Plan Review Fee, £5,000 towards the auditing of the travel plan (£1,000 per
annum for a minimum period of five years).
•
The widening of the A41 eastbound and westbound across the full site frontage
and also the full site frontage of Westonmead Farm to provide a dual carriageway.
•
The agreed Bedgrove/Broughton Lane/A41 improvements.
•
Additional traffic calming measures within Weston Turville as shown in principle
on drawing 15-174-SK11A.
•
The provision of the site access on to the A41 Aston Clinton Road with associated
footway and cycleway works as shown in principle on drawings SK07 Revision E.
•
The provision of accesses to the development site on to New Road.
Parking provision

Page 161

5.41

In respect of car parking provision, Policy H2:Development Design in the Neighbourhood
Area of the WTNP requires that provision is made for off-street parking in accordance
with the adopted standards unless a clear case can be made for why fewer spaces would
be required. Furthermore any car parking spaces should be finished in permeable
surfacing to allow for rainwater absorption and to maintain a rural character to the
street scene.

5.41.1 Policy T2 of the WTNP requires that development proposals must demonstrate how
existing sustainable transport links can be accessed from the site and where necessary,
secure improvements to ensure safe access for pedestrian and cyclists in line with
current industry standards and the Highways Authority policies. Policy GP24 of the
AVDLP requires car parking provision to be available in accordance with the SPG on Car
Parking Guidelines.
5.42 Policy T7 of the VALP required the provision of electric charging points. The appliocants
propose an indicative level of 20% of units having electric vehicle dedicated charging
points, details of which can be secured by condition.
5.43

In respect of car parking provision, this is provided on plot and in garages with some
parallel parking available. Parking for the apartments is provided in the form of
allocated parking spaces to the front and side of the apartment building. All of the
parking for the dwelling houses is provided on plot in the form of an allocated parking
space, driveway and/ or a garage, and there are some designated parking bays running
parallel to the road. and meets parking standards.
Cycle Parking

5.44

Cycle parking for the houses is to be provided in the rear garden in the form of a secure
shed. Cycle parking for the proposed apartment block will be provided in the form of a
secure cycle parking store. This is secured by way of planning condition.

5.45

It is considered that the development would accord with the aims of Policies T2 and H2
of the WTNP, the SPG on car parking, Policy GP24 of the AVDLP, policy T5 of the VALP
and with the NPPF in this regard.
Transport conclusions

5.46

Overall, subject to the mitigation measures proposed it is considered that the
development would accord with the aims of Policies T1, T2, T3 and H2 of the WTNP, the
SPG on car parking, Policy GP24 of the AVDLP policy D1, T5 and T6 of the VALP and with
the NPPF and that it could be implemented without harm to highway safety and
convenience and that sufficient parking can be provided.
Natural environment

Page 162

5.47

AVDLP Policies GP.35 (Design of new development proposals)and GP.38 (Landscaping of
new development proposals)
WTNP Policy H2: Development Design in the Neighbourhood Area, C3: Public rights of
way
Emerging VALP policy BE2 (Design of new development) and NE4 (Landscape character
and locally important landscape) both carry moderate weight and D1 Delivering
Aylesbury Garden Town ( moderate weight)
Landscape

5.48

In terms of consideration of impact on the landscape, proposals should use land
efficiently and create a well-defined boundary between the settlement and countryside
and recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. Regard must be had
as to how the development proposed contributes to the natural and local environment
through protecting and enhancing valued landscapes and geological interests,
minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains where possible and
preventing any adverse effects of pollution, as required by the NPPF.

5.49

Policy H2: Development Design in the Neighbourhood Area of the WTNP requires
development to reflect the character and scale of surrounding buildings and distinctive
local landscape features. It should retain and enhance natural boundaries, including
hedgerow and water courses which contribute to visual amenity or are important for
their ecological value and a net biodiversity gain should be gained for the Parish. Policy
C3: Public rights of way of the WTNP requires proposals to provide and enhance existing
networks of footpaths, cycle paths and bridleways and to enhance public access to rural
open spaces.

5.50

Within the AVDLP, Policy GP.35 requires new development to respect and complement
the physical characteristics of the site and surroundings; the building tradition, ordering,
form and materials of the locality; the historic scale and context of the setting; the
natural qualities and features of the area; and the effect on important public views and
skylines. Policy GP.38 states that development schemes should include landscaping
proposals designed to help buildings fit in with and complement their surroundings, and
conserve existing natural and other features of value as far as possible. Policy GP.84
states that for development affecting a public right of way the Council will have regard
to the convenience, amenity and public enjoyment of the route and the desirability of
its retention or improvement for users, including people with disabilities. Policy D1 and
BE2 of VALP reflect these. The following sections of the report consider the proposal in
terms of impact on rights of way, landscape, agricultural land, trees and hedgerows and
biodiversity and contamination.

Page 163

5.51

Policy NE4 of the VALP seeks to ensure that scheme respect the local context and
landscape character of the area.
Landscape Character

5.52

The Aylesbury Vale landscape character assessment places the site within the Southern
Vale Landscape Character Area associated with the Vale. Its key characteristics identified
relevant to the site are flat landscape in the north rising gently to a rolling land form on
the southern edge, landscape continuity interrupted by development and
communication corridors, predominance of large open arable fields, and pockets of
grazing land and smaller field parcels associated with settlements. This LCA is described
as being in poor condition and of moderate sensitivity.

5.53

The applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. The LVIA has
considered the potential individual and cumulative impacts of the proposed
development. The LVIA states that the Southern Vale Landscape Character Area, This
character area covers the land to the southeast of Aylesbury extending from the
suburban fringe of the town to the Chiltern foothills to the south and east, with the
eastern boundary bisecting the village of Aston Clinton. In terms of the sensitivity of this
receptor, the LVIA also identifies this character area as being of moderate sensitivity,
while its condition is stated to be poor.

5.54

The proposal would inevitably change from open countryside with urban influences to
an urban character, however there have been developments permitted to the west and
north, as set out above, which have already changed the character of this part of the
Landscape Character Area. The proposal would be viewed in that context. This is judged
to be a low magnitude of change with mitigation in place by the open space and
retention of hedgerows limiting the scale and impact of the development. This is a
moderate to minor significance

5.55

In terms of the wider impact, there are a number of developments recently under
construction and planned, as outlined above. With regard to the cumulative effect, the
proposed developments in combination are likely to lead to the transformation of the
character of much of this character area, from open agricultural land to mixed-use
development with associated green infrastructure. This is likely to alter the character of
this area, particularly in the case of the Aylesbury Woodlands and Hampden Fields
developments, which are major development areas and cover substantial areas of open
land.

5.56

In respect of the potential for mitigation, each development has sought to mitigate its
individual landscape and visual impacts; although it is considered that it is not possible

Page 164

to develop at this scale without fundamentally changing the character of the receiving
landscape.
Visual effects
5.56.1 The landscape impact assessment concluded that the site is heavily influenced by its
valley bottom location and relationship with the Chiltern escarpment, but also a number
of urbanising factors of the holiday inn, A41 and ribbon development, and associated
with the edge of Aylesbury. The strong hedgerow boundaries also lend the site a sense
of self-containment at ground level, which restricts relationships with surrounding uses.
The extent of open space to the southern part of the site will help to soften the
transition from open countryside to a more urban appearance and mitigate the
development in that localised setting.
5.57

The assessment concluded that the proposed development would result in no adverse
impacts beyond moderate significance, and therefore, none of these should not be
considered substantial in the planning process.
Impact on Chilterns AONB:

5.58

In terms of the wider setting, the site is low lying and generally flat landscape with the
Chiltern Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, rising from the foothills approximately
3.7km to the southeast of the site at its closest point. The wider setting to the southeast is in keeping with the Wendover Foothills (East) and Chiltern Scarp (Wendover East)
Landscape Character Areas, in that the foothills provide a transitional landscape from
the agricultural valley bottom to the heavily forested scarp which forms the skyline in
this direction. Officers have taken into account the individual and cumulative impact on
views from /to the AONB. There would be an increased amount of development arising
from this site, and other developments on this side of Aylesbury including those on New
Road adjacent, Hampden Fields, Woodlands, Westonmead Farm, Arla and Aston Clinton
Road MDA, however given the size and positioning of this site, and the long distance
views, the development would assimilate with the countryside over time, the magnitude
of change would be negligible and the proposal would not increase the significant of
adverse effects resulting in a minor significance .

5.59

Thus in terms of the impact on the wider and more local landscape, the context of the
site must be taken into account as outlined above. It is in this context that it is
acknowledged that whilst there would be some harm to the wider and more local
landscape, these impacts could not be considered to be significant. The existing site is a
greenfield site and therefore the level of significant harm from its development must
also be acknowledged. Given the developments in the vicinity f the site including those
adjacent to New Road, and Aston Clinton Road to its north, it is not considered that a
reason for refusal on harm to the landscape could be sustained.

Page 165

Visual receptors
5.60

THE LVIA concluded that the proposed development would have the following adverse
effects upon visual receptors:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Residents of Crestmead: Major significance.
Residents of dwellings on Burnhams Field: Moderate significance.
Residents of dwellings south of Aston Clinton Road: Moderate significance.
Residents of dwellings north of Aston Clinton Road: Moderate/Minor
significance.
Occupants of Holiday Inn Hotel: Minor significance.
Users of Public Footpath WTU/7/1: Moderate significance.
Users of Aston Clinton Road: Negligible significance.
Users of B4009 Upper Icknield Way: Moderate/Minor significance.

5.61

It is acknowledged that there would be a change in the views across open countryside
and towards the Chiltern Hills from Crestmead through the gap in the existing southern
boundary of that property, and the introduction of dwellings. There is a dense western
boundary hedgerow to Burnhams Fields which would limit views to roof tops and
filtered views through the hedgerow in winter months. In terms of those residents in
Aston Clinton Road there is boundary vegetation which would reduce views and oblique
views across the site would be mitigated by the open space. The majority of residents
would experience a minor or moderate impact and in the worst case, Crestmead
residents bordering the site would experience 'major adverse' cumulative impacts but
that beyond this the effects would diminish to 'moderate adverse' in the wider local
context.

5.62

The users of nearest footpath experience views towards the southern boundary hedge
of the site with commercial and residential also in this view. This would change,
although the built area is set back with the area of open space and tree planting
mitigating this view. This would be moderate, and cumulatively have a minor adverse
effect . Those from the users of Aston Clinton Road and Upper Icknields Way would
result in negligible change and cumulatively the magnitude of the impact is unlikely to
change.

5.63

Of these impacts, only the impact upon the residents of Crestmead is considered to be
substantial and this would need to be considered in the overall balance. The assessment
concluded that should the consented and proposed development surrounding the site
be built out, then this would further reduce the significance of most impacts by
introducing residential dwellings to many views and obscuring existing views of the
Chiltern escarpment.

Page 166

Landscape Conclusion

5.64

In summary the strong hedgerow boundaries lend a sense of containment which
restricts relationships with surrounding uses. The assessment of the individual and
cumulative visual impact of the proposed development along with surrounding
development proposals concluded that the impact is moderate and not substantial in
the planning process. The cumulative impact would be an adverse impact of moderate
significance due to the change in landscape character from agricultural land to
development. It further concluded, however, that the small scale of the site in adjacent
proposed developments to the north and south was such that the development of the
site itself would not cumulatively alter the significance of this impact.

5.65

On this basis and in looking at the context of the site and subject to securing a suitable
detailed landscaping scheme it is considered that the development would accord with
the Development Plan comprising the WTNP and the AVDLP and with the NPPF in terms
of the impact on the landscape.
Agricultural land

5.66

Paragraph 170 of the NPPF advises that Local Planning Authorities should take into account the
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land and, where
significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning
authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher
quality. There is no definition as to what comprises ‘significant development’ in this context but
the threshold above which Natural England are required to be consulted has been set at 20
hectares so the site (including the wider site) falls below this threshold.

5.67

The applicants have advised that the agricultural grading of the land is 3b with access over
urban land. It is therefore considered that this proposal would not represent the loss of any best
and most versatile land. On this basis, whilst there would be loss of grazing/ paddock land, given
the size of the site and the grading of the land it is not considered that there would be a conflict
with the NPPF in this regard.
Impact on Public Rights of Way

AVDLP – GP84 (Public rights of way)
WTNP C3: Public rights of way
VALP T7 (Footpaths and cycle routes)
5.68

There are no public rights of way through the site. The views from nearby footpath are dealt
with above. As part of the package of highway measures the Highway Authority are looking to
secure contributions towards extending the footway and cycleway on the northern side of the
A41. As such it is considered that this matter would accord with Policies T2 and C3 of the WTNP
and Policy GP84 of the AVDLP, VALP and with the NPPF.

Page 167

Trees and hedgerows
5.69

AVDLP GP39 (Existing trees and hedgerows) and GP40 (Retention of existing trees and
hedgerows)
WTNP: H2 Development Design in the Neighbourhood Area
Emerging AVDLP NE8 (Trees, hedgerows and woodlands) (moderate weight)

5.70

Policy H2 of the WTNP requires that new development retains and enhances natural
boundaries including hedgerows which contribute to visual amenity. Policies GP.39 and
GP.40 of the AVDLP seek to preserve existing trees and hedgerows where they are of
amenity, landscape or wildlife value. The long term vision of the tree planting is:

5.71

The application is supported by a full tree survey, providing an assessment of the
existing trees and their relationship with the proposed development, which is
considered to be a fair and accurate description of the trees within the site.

5.72

A suitable landscape planting scheme incorporating native trees, and tree protection
measures could be secured by condition. On this basis it is considered that the
development would accord with Policy H2 of the WTNP and with policies GP.39 and
GP.40 of the AVDLP and with the NPPF.
Ecology
WTNP policy H2 and E3 Biodiversity
Emerging VALP NE1 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) (moderate weight)

5.73

Paragraph 170 of the NPPF requires new development to minimise impacts on
biodiversity and provide net gains in biodiversity. Policies H2 and E3 of the WTNP
require that new development conserves and enhances biodiversity and provides a
biodiversity net gain for the parish. The proposals involve the development of a
greenfield site and therefore are likely to have a negative impact upon biodiversity if
unmitigated. The applicant has submitted an Ecological Assessment and appraisal which
sets out a number of mitigation and enhancement measures which could be
incorporated into the scheme to provide a net gain. Policy NE1 of the VALP requires new
development to deliver a net gain in biodiversity.

5.74

The application has been accompanied by ecological surveys submitted as part of the
application. The recommendations of these reports include precautionary working
methods for reptiles, birds and badgers. In respect of bats a minimum of 30 bat boxes

Page 168

integrated into the building(s) on a southerly aspect/orientation (south, south-west and
south-east). In respect of birds a minimum of 30 bird boxes integrated into the building
on a northerly aspect/orientation (north, north-east and north-west). In respect of
hedgehogs boundaries and barriers within and surrounding the development, including
fencing, railing and gates need to be made permeable to hedgehogs through the
provision of ‘Hedgehog Highways’.
5.75

The application is also supported by a Biodiversity Net Gains Assessment report (Ethos
Environmental Planning, April 2020), DEFRA Metric (02/04/2020) which demonstrates a
biodiversity net gain of 2.34 Biodiversity Units (1.67 Habitat Units and 0.67 Hedgerow
Units) which equates to gains of 7.91% and 8.34% respectively.

5.76

The Council’s Biodiversity Officer has reviewed the submitted information nad has no
objection to the scheme. Planning conditions are required to ensure net gains in
biodiversity by helping to deliver the Buckinghamshire and Milton Keynes Biodiversity
Action Plan targets in the biodiversity opportunity areas. A monitoring and management
plan will be required for biodiversity features to ensure their long-term suitable
management (secured through planning condition).

5.77

The submission of a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) and Habitat
Management Plan (HMP) detailing, in full, measures to protect existing habitat during
construction works and the formation of new habitat to secure a habitat compensation
and biodiversity net gain of no less than 2.34 Biodiversity Units (1.67 Habitat Units and
0.67 Hedgerow Units),

5.78

Having regard to the above and the ability to secure net gains, it is considered that the
proposal would accord with Policy E3 of the WTNP, emerging policy NE1 of the VALP
and with the NPPF.
Community facilities

AVDLP: GP86-88 Leisure and open space provision of community facilities and GP94
provision of community facilities
WTNP: HE1,Improvements to health facilities by contributions from develoers of new
housing, access to Education provision HE2 access to Education provision
Emerging VALP: D1 Delivering Aylesbury Garden Town (moderate weight) , I1 green
infrastructure (moderate weight, I2 Sport and recreation (moderate weight, I3
community facilities(moderate weight
5.79

The NPPF seeks to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places, promoting social
interaction, safe and accessible development and support healthy life-styles. This should
include the provision of sufficient choice of school places, access to high quality open

Page 169

spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation and the protection and enhancement
of public rights of way, and designation of local spaces.
5.80

Policy HE2 of the WTNP states that developer contributions will be sought in relation to
residential development towards the funding of new school places to expand the
capacity at existing schools or provision of new education facilities. Policy HE1 of the
WTNP states that developer contributions will be sought in relation to residential
development to fund improvements to service capacity for health facilities where the
Clinical Commissioning Group has demonstrated that the development will create
pressure on service provision and a requirement can be justified. Policies GP.86-88 and
GP.94 of AVDLP seek to ensure that appropriate community facilities are provided
arising from a proposal (e.g. school places, public open space, leisure facilities, etc.) and
financial contributions would be required to meet the needs of the development. VALP
policy

5.81

With regards to education, a financial contribution to expand primary and secondary
schools in the planning area to accommodate the above development would be
required. Secondary schools are currently at capacity and estimated pupil growth from
over 8000 homes with outstanding permission is projected to put significant increased
pressure on secondary schools, with a significant deficit of places projected. Primary
schools are also at capacity and there are plans to expand existing schools in the area to
accommodate increased demand from additional housing growth.

5.82

In terms of primary care, the Clinical Commissioning Group have responded stating that
access to GP appointments is a national issue and they are working to promote different
ways of offering consultations to cope with the increase in demand. Nationally primary
care providers will need to look at new models of care, using the skillsets of different
types of clinical professions to offset the demand from increased patient numbers.
Additionally there needs to be a focus on patient education to understand the correct
use of GP appointments as there has been an increase in inappropriate use of GP time.
The CCG acknowledge that they have been consulted by AVDC on the longer term local
plans and have submitted a response stating their commitment to the provision of
adequate and appropriate primary care facilities to meet the needs of the local
population. They comment that the Westongrove Partnership will also have to contend
with considerable housing growth from other developments in the area which
collectively, will pose a real challenge to this practice in terms of infrastructure (capacity
versus demand for appointments, car parking and infrastructure such as more
consulting space and larger/additional waiting areas). They consider that the impact of
smaller developments is harder to evidence in terms of healthcare provision particularly
as development often takes place piecemeal. However, the effects can be significant,
particularly on a practice that is used to catering for small village communities. The CCG

Page 170

conclude by saying that it is unlikely that any of these smaller scale developments would
be large enough to generate a new build and therefore the CCG anticipate that there
might be a requirement for modification to existing infrastructure and as such would
expect a contribution from the developer towards these additional costs.
5.83

Insufficient information or policy justification has been given for the need for a financial
contribution by the CCG at the time of writing the report nor has a project been
specified to deliver the infrastructure for which contributions are requested at this stage
to satisfy the requirements under the CIL regulations. Officers are of the opinion that
since the provision of health facilities is normally within the remit of the NHS, and that
the request has not satisfied the CIL regulations test it is not considered that it would be
appropriate to seek to secure contributions at this stage.

5.84

In respect of open space, the masterplan plan identifies areas of open space to the east
of the site, comprising 12,357 sqm including LEAP provision, with some further open
along the frontage with Aston Clinton Road. The Council’s Park’s and Recreation Officer
has commented that the amount of open space required for the future occupiers of the
development in accordance with the Council’s adopted requirements and that the LEAP
should adhere to standards and buffer distances to dwellings and should achieve Good
RoSPA rating. These are matters which will be secured as part of the S106 agreement.

5.85

Having regard to the above, it is considered that, subject to the completion of a S106 in
respect of the above matters, the proposed development would accord with the AVDLP
policies GP86-88 and GP94, WTNP policies, emerging VAALP policies and to the
guidance contained within the NPPF. It is concluded that the proposed development
would create safe and healthy communities in accordance with the guidance set out in
the NPPF.
Raising the quality of place making and design
AVDLP Policies GP.35 (Design of new development proposals)and GP.38 (Landscaping of
new development proposals)
Emerging VALP policy BE2 (Design of new development) and NE4 (Landscape character
and locally important landscape) (moderate weight), D1 Delivering Aylesbury Garden
Town (moderate weight)

5.86

Policy H2: Development Design in the Neighbourhood Area of the WTNP sets out a
number of criteria that would be expected to be met if proposals for development are
to be supported. These include matters such as scale, density, height, massing,
landscape design, layout and materials, reflecting the character and scale of the
surrounding buildings and of distinctive local landscape features, retention and

Page 171

enhancement of natural boundaries, ensuring any car parking spaces, where required,
use permeable surfaces to allow for rainwater absorption and to maintain a rural
character to the street scene. Furthermore new and innovative architectural design will
be strongly supported, provided that they are sympathetically integrated into the
existing street scene.
5.87

Policy GP.35 of the AVDLP which requires development to respect and complement the
physical characteristics of the site and the surroundings, the building tradition, ordering,
form and materials of the locality, the historic scale and context of the setting, the
natural qualities and features of the area and the effect on important public views and
skylines. Policy GP.45 is also relevant and that any new development would also be
required to provide a safe and secure environment for future occupiers of the site.

5.88

Emerging Policy BE2 of the VALP requires a high standard of design and for new
development to respect the context and character of the area and this is afforded
moderate weight. Policy BE4 of the VALP requires new development to respect the
density of the surrounding area.

5.89

The land is currently used as a single paddock and as such is flat and largely open with
vegetation, tress and hedgerows around the boundaries of the site. Aston Clinton Road
and the surrounding areas contain a variety of detached, semi-detached and terraced
properties, predominantly 2 storey in height, ranging from Victorian and Georgian to
modern day detached housing, with the exception of The Holiday Inn, constructed of a
mix of brick and render. Roofs are finishes in either natural slate or red/ brown plain
tiles. Roofs are either gable ended or hipped and there are examples of both closed
eaves and open eaves with exposed rafters. Boundaries to front gardens include black
metal railings, hedging, brick walls and picket fences with low lying hedging being the
most common external boundary treatment.

5.90

Making Effective Use of Land: The density (29 dwellings per hectare based on a
developable site area of 4.3 hectares) which is similar to that on the adjacent site to the
west and less than that to the north. It is considered that the proposed density offers an
efficient use of land in a sustainable location on the edge of Aylesbury that is consistent
with the Garden Town principles. Consideration is given in the report to the impact on
the natural environment, living conditions and character of the area as well as securing
a well-designed development.

5.91

Layout

5.92

In terms of the layout the proposal shows an accessible, legible and permeable layout
which would generally follow good urban design principles with the use of perimeter

Page 172

blocks and buildings, a central small green area and open space to the south east
forming focal points to provide a sense of place, enclosed backs and active frontages.
There would be a set back from the Aston Clinton Road frontage continuing the strong
building line along this frontage and The amended layout provides a clearer hierarchy
of streets and variations in building lines. There would be set backs and varying house
types and roof heights.
5.93

In terms of access and providing an interconnected set of streets the layout has adopted
a perimeter block approach with the primary access streets running around the edges of
the site with secondary private drives connecting the streets within the development.
Access is provided into the wider are through the development to the south east of the
site connecting through to New Road. A network of footways provides good links
throughout the development, and through to New Road and the A41. It is considered
that the road and street layout ensures there is good pedestrian permeability though
the site and that it is well connected to the wider area.

5.94

Scale:

5.95

The heights predominantly 2- 2.5 storeys are consistent with the character of the
surrounding area, with one three storey apartment building limited towards the
northern boundary of the site fronting onto the A41. This would provide a focal point
which is similar to that on the northern side of the A41. The 3 storey block is 12m high,
building hights for the houses reduce down to the fringe areas and no more than 9m
high.

5.96

Appearance:

5.97

In terms of the design of the dwellings, there are a number of house types proposed
which create a varied and interesting streetscene across the site with adequate space
around buildings. The applicant has specified a mixture of red multi stock brink with
some use of render which will give the proposed housing a traditional appearance. .
Further details can be secured by condition. The design of the dwellings incorporates
some architectural detailing in the form of feature brickwork and projecting bays and
feature windows and creates local identity. These elements help to add visual interest to
the dwellings and ensures that the overall design and appearance will be of high quality
and enhance the character of the area. The apartment building has been designed with
a variation in height from 2.5 dormered elements to 3 storey gables features, which
help to break up the appearance and massing of this building

5.98

The open space would provide a satisfactory level of public amenity and meet garden
town principles. The positioning and size of the LEAP is shown within the open space to
the east of the site. These spaces are to comprise a variety of equipped and unequipped
play opportunities and to include native planting; provide a range of activities and
elements which encourages interaction using natural elements. Demonstration is
required that the equipment specification for the play areas is acceptable and conforms

Page 173

to required standards. There are appropriate buffer zones to the closest residential
dwellings and they are located so as to allow a good degree of passive surveillance.
5.99

In terms of boundary treatment, the DAS advises that this would include fencing, low
brick walls and hedgerows to replicate the character of the area. Where rear garden
boundaries back onto the public realm, bricks walls will be used. Further details can be
secured by condition. With regards to designing out crime states that the development
would be designed in accordance with Secured by Design principles such that houses are
generally back to back or abut each other, front doors are overlooked, parking is
provided close to the dwelling it serves and predominantly within the curtilage of the
dwellings. It is considered that crime prevention design features have been adequately
provided in accordance with policy GP45 of the AVDLP.

5.100 The layout has had regard to refuse and service vehicle provision, and tracking of such

vehicles has been provided. Waste and recycling provision is to be accommodated on
plot for all houses, and rear access to meet carrying distances. The apartments have
dedicated waste and recycling stores. Details of refuse storage and collection, and cycle
parking are in accordance with the guidelines Further details can be secured by
condition

5.101 Overall, it is considered that the proposed development will provide an attractive good

quality residential scheme. The design has been informed by the surrounding context
and it is considered that the use of design details will add interest to the elevations and
the use of high quality materials will enhance the character and appearance of the area
in accordance with Policy H2 of the WTNP, policy GP.35 of the AVDLP, emerging polices
D1, BE2 and BE4 of the VALP and the NPPF.

5.102 Historic environment (or Conservation Area or Listed Building Issues)
AVDLP policy GP53 (New development in and adjacent to Conservation Areas)
Emerging VALP policies BE1 (Heritage Assets) (moderate weight)
5.103 The NPPF recognises the effect of an application on the significance of a heritage asset is
a material planning consideration. Paragraph 193 states that there should be great
weight given to the conservation of designated heritage assets; the more important the
asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through
alteration or destruction of the heritage asset, or development within its setting. Any
harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification. Paragraph 189 extends
this provision to non-designated heritage assets with an archaeological interest. Special
regard has been given to the statutory test of preserving the setting of listed buildings

Page 174

under section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990,
which is accepted is a higher duty. There are no scheduled monuments or listed
buildings are present within the application site, nor does it lie within a conservation
area. There is one Grade II listed building immediately adjacent to the west of the site –
Broughton Barn. Broughton Farmhouse was also listed Grade II but a fire in 1984
destroyed part of its early fabric and it was de-listed in 2006.
5.104 The Council’s conservation officer has commented that Broughton Farm complex is for
most part screened by trees along the western site boundary but there is a small stretch
which s fenced that give views of the farmhouse from the site. There is no intervisibility between the site and the scheduled monument at Manor Farm.
5.105 There is limited intervisibility with the Barn at Broughton Farm. The setting of the farm

buildings has to some extent been compromised by development along New Road and
the hotel to the south and the listed building has lost its original rural landscape setting.
Its significance as a listed building has also been reduced since its conversion to
residential use. The proposed development will have limited impact on its significance
and change in its setting. Additional planting of trees along the western boundary to
provide improved screening would result in no harm. Therefore the proposal would
preserve the setting of the listed buildings and accord with section 66(1) of the Planning
(Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the heritage aspects of the NPPF.

5.106 With regards to archaeology, given the archaeological potential of the site, the
proposed development area was evaluated by Prospect Archaeology in 2019. The report
concludes that there is extensive evidence for both later Iron Age and Roman
settlement activity to the north, west and south of the application site, and the Roman
road Akeman Street forms the northern Site boundary. Geophysical survey of the site
has identified medieval/post-medieval ridge and furrow in two discrete areas of the
Site, separated by a field boundary which may have originated as a plough headland. It
is likely that this area was always used for agricultural purposes through the medieval
and post-medieval periods.
5.107 In summary there is not considered to be a conflict with the NPPF in respect of heritage

assets and the development would accord with the aims of Policy H2: Development
Design in the Neighbourhood Area of the WTNP and emerging VALP policy.
Flooding and drainage
Emerging VALP policy I4 (Flooding) (moderate weight)

5.108 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and according to the flood map for surface water

provided by the Environment Agency, the site lies in an area of very low risk of surface
water flooding. A site specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) was submitted in support of

Page 175

the application. The FRA concludes that the site is at the lowest possible risk of flooding
and can be developed safely without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and with due
consideration to the potential effects of climate change. The Local Flood Authority (LFA)
have also confirmed that the site is at low risk of surface water flooding, however the
LFA noted that half of the site is at risk from reservoir flooding if there is a reservoir
failure. The Environment Agency published mapping shows that the area susceptible to
flooding should the reservoir fail is in the middle of the site. Historical flood maps show
that there are no reported incidences of flooding within and in the vicinity of the site.
5.109 The surface water drainage system is designed in accordance with CIRIA C753 ‘The SuDS

Manual’ (2015) and to the emerging National Standards produced in support of the
Flood and Water Management Act 2010. The site is indicated to be underlain by Head
(clay, silt, sand and gravel) and shallow infiltration methods for the disposal of surface
water are unlikely to be feasible. All surface water runoff from the proposed
development will be discharged to the nearby ditch at rates restricted to existing
greenfield rates to ensure that flood risk is not increased downstream as a result of the
proposed development

5.110 Surface water run-off from impermeable areas (roof and road areas) will discharge via

an adoptable surface water network beneath the roads to one of two ponds
(attenuation basins), which will be sized to provide attenuation storage for the 1 in 100
year event including allowance for a 40% increase in rainfall intensities as a result of
climate change. The ponds will then be discharged to the existing ditch in the eastern
corner of the site.

5.111 The LFA have confirmed that they have no objections subject to conditions to secure

approval of a surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage
principles and a whole life maintenance scheme for the SuDS scheme by conditions or
S106 whichever is appropriate. In respect of foul drainage, a condition could be imposed
to ensure that appropriate details of a foul drainage scheme are submitted for approval
and implemented prior to occupation of the development.

5.112 Having regard to the above matters, it is considered that the development could be

appropriately flood resilient and that surface water drainage and foul drainage has been
accounted for and as such the development would accord with Policy H2 of the WTNP
and with the NPPF.

Supporting high quality communications
5.113 Paragraph 114 of the NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities’ to ensure that they have

considered the possibility of the construction of new buildings or other structures
interfering with broadcast and electronic communications services. Given the nature

Page 176

and location of the proposed development, it is considered unlikely for there to be any
adverse interference upon any nearby broadcast and electronic communications
services as a result of the development.
5.114 Policy B3: Improvements to broadband and other fibre optic connections of the WTNP

states (amongst other things) that the Neighbourhood Plan will support the provision of
improvements to broadband and other fibre optic connections to both residential and
business properties in the Parish. Proposals should include the pre-requisite
infrastructure required for broadband connectivity and implementation in the sites
development at the earliest stage to ensure that they can be connected to the superfast
broadband network at the earliest opportunity and have the capacity to “future proof’
infrastructure/apparatus to industry standards. It is therefore considered a condition
requiring details of broadband and other fibre optic connections to be submitted for
approval would satisfactorily address the requirements of this policy. Overall it is
considered that the proposal would accord with Policy B3 of the WTNP and with the
guidance set out in the NPPF in this regard.

Amenity of existing and future residents
AVDLP - GP.8 (Protection of the amenity of residents)
Emerging VALP policy BE3 (Protection of the amenity of residents) (considerable weight)
5.115 The closest residential properties to the site are numbers 52 and 66 Aston Clinton Road.

Number 52 is a large detached property with a large rear garden, fronting on to the A41,
and the development would wrap around the rear and side boundaries of the
properties curtilage. Other properties include 4 to 7 Burnhams Field located to the west
of the application site and the development in New road to the south west of the site.

5.116 To the east lies the apartment block which is 12m high, separated from No 52 by a

landscaped strip, road and parking. The distance of approx. 18 m to the side boundary
to the proposed buildings would ensure overlooking, light and outlook are satisfactory. .
The layout also allows for the retention of boundary vegetation hedging.

5.117 To the western boundary of No 52 there would be 2 and 2.5 storey dwellings backing

onto the side boundary at distances varying between 10- 15m at ground floor and 1218m at first floor . This would be a normally accepted distance building to boundary and
no undue loss of light, privacy or outlook would result. To the rear boundary are car
parking spaces and internal access road, which would not adversely affect amenities..

5.118 In terms of No 66, the nearest dwellings would be separated by green space and

internal road, and no undue loss of light, privacy or outlook would arise.

5.119 Whilst there will inevitably be some noise and disturbance during construction works,

this is temporary and a construction management plan could be secured by condition to

Page 177

ensure construction storage is adequately controlled along with deliveries. The layout
will include access roads near the boundary of the neighbouring property however it is
considered this is an acceptable relationship and whilst there will be some increase in
noise compared to a green field, this would not be unusual nor to an unreasonable level
to justify a refusal.
5.120 Further landscape features including tree planting are shown on the layout plan in

between the existing properties adjacent to the site and the development site, which
will soften views. Whilst it is apparent that the proposed development would alter views
from properties neighbouring the site, private views such as this are not a material
planning consideration. It is considered that the layout plan adequately demonstrates
that the layout would avoid unneighbourly relationships between dwellings.

5.121 The siting of the proposed LEAP has been considered to ensure natural surveillance to

discourage antisocial behaviour whilst also maintaining an adequate buffer between it
and nearby residential properties.

5.122 Turning to the amenities of the proposed dwellings these would be adequately spaced

and ensure that a satisfactory level of amenity is provided for future occupiers. Rear
gardens and public amenity space is also provided to a satisfactory level. Environmental
health have suggested a condition relating to noise mitigation measures to protect
against undue noise from the A41. This can be secured by condition.

5.123 In summary it is considered that the proposed development would not unduly harm the

residential amenities of nearby properties in terms of their light, outlook or privacy.
Although there will be some impact from construction traffic a condition can require the
submission of a Construction Traffic Management Plan to ensure that construction
storage within the site is appropriately controlled along with deliveries. It is considered
the proposed development would ensure an adequate level of residential amenity for
existing and future occupiers in accordance with Policy H2 of the WTNP, Policy GP8 of
the AVDLP, BE3 of VALP and NPPF advice.
Building sustainability
LC9 (General Design Principles)

Page 178

Emerging Policy C3 (Renewable Energy) of VALP (moderate weight)
5.124 The applicants confirm that there will be a fabric first approach to energy efficiency,
creating highly sealed and thermally insulated buildings, and orientation of buildings to
maximise light, and south facing areas .
6.0

Developer contributions

6.1

As noted above, there are a number of requirements which would need to be secured in
a Planning Obligation Agreement to secure their delivery, namely financial contributions
towards education provision (primary and secondary), bus stop improvements, off-site
sport and leisure provision, on-site provision of affordable housing, on site public open
space and play areas, and sustainable transport measures and off site highway works,
SUDs maintenance.. Specific projects are also to be identified for the financial
contributions to ensure compliance with latest Government Guidance in consultation
with the Parish Council and County Council.

6.2

It is considered that such requirements would accord with The Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010. Regulation 122 places into law the
Government’s policy tests on the use of planning obligations. It is now unlawful for a
planning obligation to be taken into account as a reason for granting planning
permission for a development of this nature if the obligation does not meet all of the
following tests; necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms,
directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind
to the development.

6.3

In the context of this application the development is in a category to which the
regulations apply. The requirement for all of the above named measures, if the
proposals were to be supported, would need to be secured through a Planning
Obligation Agreement. These are necessary and proportionate obligations that are
considered to comply with the tests set by Regulation 122 for which there is clear policy
basis either in the form of development plan policy or supplementary planning
guidance, and which are directly, fairly and reasonably related to the scale and kind of
development. Specific projects are to be identified within the Section 106 in accordance
with the pooling limitations set forth in CIL Regulation 123 to ensure that the five
obligations limit for pooled contributions is not exceeded.

7.0

Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment

7.1

In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition,

Page 179

Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning
Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing with
planning applications, the authority shall have regard to:
a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material,
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application
(such as CIL if applicable), and,
c. Any other material considerations
7.2

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable
development which for decision taking means approving development proposals that
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay; or where there are no
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for
determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless the application
of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a
clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any adverse impacts of doing so
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in the Framework taken as a whole.

7.3

There are relevant development plan policies that apply to this application. Those
policies which are most important for determining this application are H1, H2 of WTNP,
GP35 of AVDLP and all are consistent with the NPPF. Given officers have considered the
suite of the most important policies and not solely relied upon policy H1 of the WTNP in
concluding on the approach set out in paragraph 11 of the NPPF . In this instance AVDLP
Policy G35 and WTNP H2 are in full compliance with the NPPF and therefore up to date.
Special regard has been given to the statutory test of preserving the setting of nearby
listed buildings and the conclusion is that the proposal would preserve the setting of
these buildings.

7.4

The scheme has also been considered acceptable in terms of its impact to residential
amenity, achieving well-designed places, parking and access, promoting sustainable
transport, meeting the challenge of climate change and flooding, and conserving and
enhancing the natural environment and preserving the historic environment, however
these do not represent benefits of the scheme but rather demonstrate an absence of
harm to which weight should be attributed neutrally.

7.5

In the terms of applying paragraph 11 of the Framework it is concluded the proposal
would accord with the development plan and there are no material considerations that
indicate a decision otherwise.

Page 180

7.6

Local Planning Authorities, when making decisions of a strategic nature, must have due
regard, through the Equalities Act, to reducing the inequalities which may result from
socio-economic disadvantage. In this instance, it is not considered that this proposal
would disadvantage any sector of society to a harmful extent.

8.

Working with the applicant / agent

8.1

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2019) the Council approach decisiontaking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development
proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure
developments.

8.2

The Council work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by
offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating
applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.

8.3

In this instance:
•

The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments and
additional information to the scheme/address issues.

•

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote
the application.

9.

Recommendation

9.1

The officer recommendation is that the application be Deferred and Delegated to
officers for approval subject to the satisfactory completion of a S106 agreement to
secure the requirements set out in the report and subject to any conditions considered
appropriate or refuse if a satisfactory S106 agreement cannot be complete for such
reasons as officers considers appropriate.

Page 181

Appendix
A1.0

Weston Turville Parish Council – Object
1. The site is within the area covered by the newly made Weston Turville
Neighbourhood Plan and is outside the defined settlement boundary. The WTNP policy
H1 states that no development will be permitted on land outside the settlement
boundaries.
2. A number of other developments in this area have already been approved and the
Parish Council is of the opinion that the Aston Clinton Road/Tring Road artery will be
overburdened to an unacceptable degree if more development is approved without
adequate mitigation measures. Concerns were also raised about access to/from the site
particularly if right turns are permitted on this extremely busy stretch of road.
3. The existing infrastructure is insufficient to meet the demands of this developments.
Schools and GP surgeries are already under pressure and although new facilities are
proposed by the Hampden Fields development and the adjoining Woodlands
development, they will not be open for a number of years. The Parish Council will send a
representative if this application is considered by Committee.
The amended plans do not change this.

A1.1

Bierton with Broughton Parish – Object
This proposal would add yet another access onto the already congested A41 (at least
another 300 movements per day at peak times). It should not be considered until the
new strategic road network ( ELR (S) and the other links through to the Wendover bypass) has been opened (currently "promised" for 2021) and sufficient meaningful data
has been collected to confirm the effects that this has on A41 traffic.
2 Letters of objection have been received raising the following concerns:
- Noise impact of the proposed development
- It will have an adverse impact on the residential amenity of neighbouring properties
- Traffic or Highways impact. It will be three more years before any new highway
infrastructure is available to relieve congestion on A41, this application is premature.
Right turn movements out of the site will be very difficult at peak times. Traffic needing
to make that movement would have to turn left into New Road and change direction at
the Holiday Inn or in one of the new developments. Again, exit from New Road in the
morning peak is often delayed by the weight of traffic on A41.

Page 182

A2.0

Consultation responses:

A2.1

BCC Highways - No objection subject to mitigation measures secured by S106
Agreement.

A2.2

Landscape Officer – No objection subject to conditions to require submission of a
detailed landscaping scheme

A2.3

Parks and Recreation – Following the amended plans sufficient open space is being
provided on site. The LEAP should adhere to standards and buffer distances to dwellings
and should achieve a Good RoSPA rating. Financial contribution required for off-site
sport and leisure facilities.

A2.4

Recycling and Waste – No objection

A2.5

BCC Archaeology – No objection subject to following condition
No development shall take place, unless authorised by the local planning authority, until
the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, have secured the implementation of
a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of
investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the planning
authority.

A2.6

Heritage – No objection subject to a condition to require submission of a detailed
landscaping scheme
Broughton Farm complex is for most part screened by trees along the western site
boundary but there is a small stretch which s fenced that give views of the farmhouse
from the site. There is no inter-visibility between the site and the scheduled monument
at Manor Farm.
There is limited intervisibility with the Barn at Broughton Farm. The setting of the farm
buildings has to some extent been compromised by development along New Road and
the hotel to the south and the listed building has lost its original rural landscape setting.
Its significance as a listed building has also been reduced since its conversion to
residential use. The proposed development will have limited impact on its significance
and change in its setting. Additional planting of trees along the western boundary to
provide improved screening would result in no harm.

A2.7

BCC SUDS – No objection subject to conditions to secure approval of a surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an

Page 183

assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological context of the development and a
whole life maintenance scheme for the SuDS scheme.
A2.8

The Environment Agency – No comment

A2.9

Thames Water – No objection subject to a condition to require that no occupation
beyond 20 dwellings until confirmation has been provided that either:- all foul water
network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows from the development
have been completed; or- a development and infrastructure phasing plan has been
agreed with Thames Water to allow additional development to be occupied.
A further condition to require that no more than 100 dwellings are occupied until all
water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows from the
development have been completed

A2.3

Buckinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group - The Westongrove Partnership will
have to contend with considerable housing growth from other developments in the area
which collectively, will pose a real challenge to this practice in terms of infrastructure
(capacity versus demand for appointments, car parking and infrastructure such as more
consulting space and larger/additional waiting areas). The impact of smaller
developments is harder to evidence in terms of healthcare provision particularly as
development often takes place piecemeal. However, the effects can be significant,
particularly on a practice that is used to catering for small village communities. It is
unlikely that any of these smaller scale developments would be large enough to
generate a new build and therefore it is anticipated that there might be a requirement
for modification to existing infrastructure and a contribution from the developer
towards these additional costs would be expected.

A2.4

BCC Education - A financial contribution to expand primary and secondary schools in the
planning area to accommodate the above development would be required. Secondary
schools are currently at capacity and estimated pupil growth from over 8000 homes
with outstanding permission is projected to put significant increased pressure on
secondary schools, with a significant deficit of places projected. Primary schools are
also at capacity and there are plans to expand existing schools in the area to
accommodate increased demand from additional housing growth.

A2.5

Ecology and Biodiversity – No objection subject to conditions securing the delivery of
biodiversity net gains an, ecological measures stated within reports and ecology
enhancements features integrated into the proposed development.

A2.6

Affordable Housing – No objection, policy compliant provision to be secured within the
S106 agreement. The mix reflects the affordable housing need and the tenure split is
acceptable (75% affordable rent, 25% shared ownership)

Page 184

A2.7

Environmental Health – Potential noise impacts of properties closest to the A41 from
road traffic. Therefore it is recommend that if the application is granted it is subject to
the following condition. Prior to construction the applicant will commission an acoustic
assessment that demonstrates that, subject to appropriate mitigation, the internal noise
levels in the dwellings do not exceed the standards set in BS8233:2104 table 4 and
LAmaxF levels in bedrooms at night do not exceed 45dB more than 10 times per night.
The noise levels in private external amenity spaces shall not exceed 55dB LAeq 16hr.
The report shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by The Local Planning
Authority, prior to the commencement of construction.

Page 185

Site and Layout Plans

Page 186

Page 187

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Buckinghamshire Council
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk

Report to Strategic Planning Committee
Application Number:

CM/0018/20

Proposal:

Continuation of the development at Bletchley Landfill
Site at variance to conditions 2 & 4 (restoration scheme),
3 (operational life), 6 (final restoration of the site) and 13
(operational hours) attached to planning permission
95/1362/AWD, to extend the operational life of the site,
extend the timescale for final restoration, revise the
restoration scheme and amend Saturday operational
hours.

Site Location:

Bletchley Landfill Site
Guernsey Road
Newton Leys
Milton Keynes
Milton Keynes
MK3 5FR

Applicant:

FCC Environment

Case Officer:

David Periam

Ward(s) affected:

Great Brickhill

Parish-Town Council:

Newton Longville and Stoke Hammond

Date valid application received:

24th April 2020

Statutory determination date:

30th September 2020

Recommendation

1.1 It is recommended that the Strategic Sites Committee INDICATE SUPPORT for
application no. CM/0018/20 and DELEGATES AUTHORITY to the Service Director for
Planning and Environment to grant planning permission subject to detailed conditions
to be finalised and subject first to any appeal against the refusal of planning permission
by Milton Keynes Council to application no. 20/00678/FULMMA being upheld (i.e.
permission being granted on appeal). Should any such appeal be dismissed or any
material variations affecting that part of the development in Buckinghamshire be made
to application no. CM/0018/20 then it shall be returned to the Strategic Sites
Committee for further consideration.

Page 189

2.0

Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration
2.1 The application has been referred to committee due to the directly related application
to Milton Keynes Council and the need to give substantial weight to the decision made
by Milton Keynes Council to refuse planning permission to the application in its
administrative area (20/00678/FULMMA) given that the majority of the site including
all the remaining void space still to be filled lies within that council's administrative
area.
2.2 It is recommended that the Strategic Sites Committee INDICATE SUPPORT for
application no. CM/0018/20 and DELEGATES AUTHORITY to the Service Director for
Planning and Environment to grant planning permission subject to detailed conditions
to be finalised and subject first to any appeal against the refusal of planning permission
by Milton Keynes Council to application no. 20/00678/FULMMA being upheld (i.e.
permission being granted on appeal). Should any such appeal be dismissed or any
material variations affecting that part of the development in Buckinghamshire be
made to application no. CM/0018/20 then it shall be returned to the Strategic Sites
Committee for further consideration.

3.0

Description of Proposed Development
3.1

The application is part of the existing Bletchley Landfill Site (known hereafter as LFS)
which is located off Guernsey Road in Newton Leys. The LFS has been in operation
since the 1970s and was constructed on the site of the former Newton Longville clay
pit. Access is via a gated entrance off Guernsey Road which leads into the staff/visitor
parking area and routes further into the site for waste delivery vehicles. The LFS
covers a total site area of 116ha. The site is accessed from the A4146 Stoke
Hammond Bypass in Buckinghamshire via its roundabout junction with Jersey Drive
which then leads on to Guernsey Road.

3.2

The site is bounded by residential areas of Bletchley to the north and east. To the
east is also the Blue Lagoon Nature Reserve and west coast main railway line.
Newton Leys is located to the south and west with Newton Longville village just to
the west and Stoke Hammond village approximately one mile (1.4 Km) further to the
south-east.
The site including the access road to the A4146 lies mainly in the Milton Keynes
Council administrative area. The application site within the Buckinghamshire Council
administrative area consists of two small parts of the overall site: a small section of
the landfill site at its western end within the parish of Newton Longville where
landfilling has been completed some years ago and a small section at the southern
end where Jersey Drive meets the A4146. The current operational area of the landfill
site otherwise lies entirely within the Milton Keynes Council area and a contiguous
planning application was made to that council for the development within that area.
The LFS now contains some areas which have been completed and filled already
followed by restorative works (approximately 35% of the site). Within the Milton
Keynes Council area, the LFS also contains other waste processing facilities operating
under separate planning permissions including a material recycling facility.

3.3

Page 190

3.4

The application is made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990, which confers power to amend or remove conditions and not to amend any
other part of the permission. The application proposes to vary conditions 2, 3, 4 and
of permission 95/1362/AWD which was granted on21st August 2002 as follows:
• Condition 3 - Operational Time Limit. Condition 3 requires the cessation of
importation of waste materials by the 6th of February 2022. There is an estimated 10
million m3 of void space remaining to be filled and the applicant’s projected waste
input suggests that a further 15 years will be required to complete this. The request is
to vary the condition to extend the final end date for importation of waste to 6th
February 2037.
• Conditions 2 and 4 – Condition 2 requires compliance with the approved
documents submitted with the 1995 application approved in 2002 and condition 4
requires that the development be carried out in accordance with the Site Restoration
sequence. This application is seeking to alter the restoration scheme. An amended
planting scheme for the site is proposed along with a minor amendment to the final
contours of the landfill, to allow for the retention of an important habitat ‘ditch’
feature in the southern part of the site (of particular importance to Great Crested
Newts, a protected species). The applicant states that the minor amendment
proposed would not materially affect the previously approved final landform. The
overall height and appearance of the restored landform will not be affected by the
change. However, there will be a slight reduction in the void space (of some
460,000m3) as a result of this proposed change, meaning a consequent reduction in
waste imports and so the time required for final restoration. The part of the landfill
area within Buckinghamshire has already been filled and restored and there would be
no change to the contours within the Buckinghamshire part of the site and so the
application which falls to the determination of this council. Some small scale further
restoration works at a later date may though be required to tie in with the
restoration of the wider site and the updated restoration plan, if approved. Such
works would be likely to include additional planting plus ongoing maintenance and
aftercare of the area. In terms of the timescale for completion of any further
restoration works in this area, this would be undertaken in Phase 2, which would be
likely to be within approximately five years from the issue of any new grant of
planning consent. There is unlikely to be any need for further importation of soils in
this area (unless there is differential settlement, which is normally addressed through
the aftercare scheme period) but some cultivation may be required to suit the
proposed planting.
• Condition 6 – Condition 6 requires that the restoration of the site is completed no
later than 12 months from the date of cessation of waste inputs required by
condition 3. This application is seeking an additional 12 months, to allow two years
for the restoration of the site post cessation of waste inputs. The latest date for
completion of the restoration would therefore be the 6th February 2039.
• Condition 13 – Condition 13 controls the hours of operation. The hours on the
Buckinghamshire permission permitted operations between 7.00 am and 6.00 pm on
Mondays to Fridays, 7.00 am to 1.00 pm on Saturdays other than the first two
Saturdays following the New Year’s Public Holiday and the first Saturday following
any other Bank or Public Holiday when the hours are 7.00 am to 4.00 pm and not at
all on Sundays or Bank Holidays. It is proposed to amend this by removing the

Page 191

provision for extended hours on the Saturdays following New Year’s Day Public
holiday and other Bank or Public Holidays to bring it in line with the permitted hours
on the permission within the Milton Keynes Council area which were amended in
2011. There would therefore be a limited reduction in the permitted operational
hours.
3.5

The most significant factor set out in support of the application is the way that waste
is dealt with and the move away from landfill and the increase in recycling since the
previous planning permission was granted as there is a priority to deal with waste in
a more environmentally sustainable way and so move its management up the waste
hierarchy. As a result, the remaining void is taking significantly longer to fill than the
original calculations predicted hence the request to extend the lifespan of the landfill
operation by a further 15 years.

3.6

All other remaining conditions from the 2002 permission would remain in
force/applicable so the day-to-day operations would remain as per the current
permissions. The documents submitted as part of the planning application are
available to view using application reference number CC/0024/20 on the planning
website (https://publicaccess.buckscc.gov.uk/online-applications/).

3.7 The development has been screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment
Regulations and the local planning authority has concluded that an environmental
impact assessment will not be required in this case.
4.0

Relevant Planning History
4.1

Clay extraction was carried out for many years under planning permission nos.
1209/50 and BL/193/64 and waste disposal was also permitted under permission no.
1209/50. Clay extraction ceased in the early 1990s and the associated brickworks
were demolished. When Milton Keynes became a unitary council in 1997, the
majority of the consented site lay within the new council’s administrative area.
Planning permission no. 95/1362/AWD for the re-contouring of landfill site together
with new access and reception area was granted on 21st August 2002 by
Buckinghamshire County Council for the parts of the site which lay within
Buckinghamshire and at the same time Milton Keynes Council granted planning
permission for the larger area within Milton Keynes under planning permission no.
MK/806/95.

4.2

Planning permission no. 05/20008/AWD to allow variation of condition 13 of
permission no. 95/1362/AWD to allow importation of waste on the Bank Holidays on
27th December 2005 and 14th April 2006 was granted on 29th November 2005.

4.3

Planning permission no. 06/20005/AWD was granted on 18th October 2006 for a
temporary variation of condition 13 of permission no. 95/1362/AWD to allow the
input of waste on Saturdays before Bank and Public Holidays until 4.00 pm until 29 th
December 2007.

Page 192

4.4 Planning permission no. 05/20009/ACC was granted for construction and use of new
access road at variance to the alignment and design details approved under planning
permission MK/806/95 and 95/1302/AWD to serve the Bletchley Landfill Site.

5.0

Policy Considerations and Evaluation
5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
planning applications are determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The development plan for this area comprises of:
•

Buckinghamshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 - 2036 (BMWLP)

•

Aylesbury Vale District Local Plan 2004 (AVDLP)

The policies relevant to this planning application from the BMWLP are as follows:
 Policy 16 Managing impacts on Amenity and Natural Resources
 Policy 25 Delivering High Quality Restoration and Aftercare
The policies relevant to this planning application from the AVDLP are as follows:
 GP.8 Protection of amenity of residents
 GP.95 Unneighbourly Uses
Other documents that need to be considered in determining this development include:
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
 National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW)
 Draft Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan (2013-2033)
The draft Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan (2013-2033) (VALP) is considered to be at an
advanced stage of preparation and is a material consideration for the determination of
planning applications.
Emerging policies from the draft Vale of Aylesbury Local Plan (2013-2033) considered to
be relevant to the proposed development include:
•

BE3 (Protection of Amenity of residents)

Principle and Location of Development
5.2 As set out above, the application within Buckinghamshire covers two small areas of the
much larger overall landfill site which lies within the Milton Keynes Council area. The 10
million m3 of remaining void space within the landfill site is within the Milton Keynes
Council area and the site has not been included in the BMWLP with regard to it
providing capacity of the plan period. The current requirement is for waste
importation to cease by 6th February 2002 which given the remaining void space would
seem unlikely to now be achieved. Landfill sites such as this cannot be left unrestored
and so either more time will need to be given to achieve the completion and
Page 193

restoration of the site or an alternative scheme of restoration which did not rely on the
same quantity of waste would need to be brought forward. It is this which has driven
the applicant to conclude that, given reduced rates of waste input due to the increased
management of waste further up the waste hierarchy, that a further 15 years are
required for the site to be completed with a further two years for the completion of
restoration.
5.3 Milton Keynes Council has resolved to refuse the application on the grounds that it
would lead to a negative impact on the amenity of the local community in the longer
term, that a further 15 years would be harmful to the relative enjoyment of the
community and the associated postponement of the restoration works would result in
a loss of opportunity for the community to benefit for open space recreation as
originally agreed. Whilst the impacts of the development insofar as it lies within
Buckinghamshire and so falls to be part of the application presented to the committee
today must still be considered in the determination of the application, it is considered
that it is a material consideration that the application is largely parasitic on that in
Milton Keynes. The main issues to be considered are the impact of the application
within Buckinghamshire on amenity and any delay to the completion and restoration of
the site as it is now proposed.

Amenity of existing and future residents
BMWLP policy 16
AVDLP policies GP.8 and GP.35
5.4

Policy 16 of the BMWLP seeks to see that waste development is environmentally
feasible, secures a good standard of amenity and would not give rise to unacceptable
adverse impacts including to human health and the amenity and well-being of local
communities. Policy GP.8 of the AVDLP states that planning permission will not be
granted where the proposed development would unreasonably harm any aspect of
the amenity of nearby residents when considered against the benefits of the
proposal. It also advises the council use conditions to ensure adverse impacts are
appropriately controlled. Policy BE3 of the emerging VALP makes similar provision
and Policy GP.95 of the AVDLP supplements this requiring development pays regard
to the protection of the amenities of existing occupiers.

5.5

Since the previous planning permissions were granted in both Buckinghamshire and
Milton Keynes, there has been substantial new development to the east and southeast of the landfill site and alongside the roads which provide access to it. This is now
the community of Newton Leys. Whilst objections have been raised to the application
on various grounds relating to impacts on amenity and public health and wellbeing as
set out in Appendix A and Milton Keynes Council has resolved to refuse the
application in its area due to the impacts on the amenity of the local community,
there would be no further landfilling in the area at the western end of the landfill site

Page 194

within Buckinghamshire. The other area within Buckinghamshire includes a small
part of Jersey Drive where it meets the A4146 Stoke Hammond bypass and adjoining
land but there is no actual landfill site development within this area and whilst at the
time of the previous application this was solely the access to the landfill site, Jersey
Drive is now a public highway which provides access not only towards the landfill site
but also to the community of Newton Leys. It does not therefore seem that the
application within Buckinghamshire could be demonstrated to have any
unacceptable adverse impacts on local communities and so that it could be
demonstrated that it is contrary to these policies.
Restoration
BMWLP Policy 25
5.6

6.0

Policy 25 of the BMWLP seeks to see landfill sites restored to an acceptable condition
and stable landform as soon as practicable and providing for high quality aftercare
arrangements. The application within Buckinghamshire would not require any
further landfilling or substantive restoration works to the western end of the landfill
area and any remaining restoration works would be carried out within five years of
the date of granting permission to the current application. If permission were
granted now then this would effectively add a further 2.5 years for the final
completion of restoration. The small piece of land which forms part of what is now
Jersey Drive does not require any restoration works to be carried out. It is not
therefore considered that there is therefore conflict with policy 25 of the BMWLP
such as could lead to demonstrable harm justifying the refusal of planning
permission.

Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment
6.1

In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In
addition, Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country
Planning Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in
dealing with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to:
a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material,
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application
(such as CIL if applicable), and,
c. Any other material considerations

6.2

As set out above it is considered that the proposed development would accord with
the relevant development plan policies. Whilst the concerns raised by the local
community with regard to the impact of the prolongation of the development and

Page 195

the delay to restoration, these are matters which really relate substantively to the
application within Milton Keynes rather than in Buckinghamshire as discussed above.

7.0

6.3

As Milton Keynes Council has resolved to refuse the planning application in its area
then clearly there would seem little benefit in a grant of planning permission to the
application within Buckinghamshire which, as discussed, is for only small parts of the
remaining site over which there is no requirement for further development. It is
anticipated that the applicant is likely to lodge an appeal against the refusal of
planning permission which will then in due course be considered by the Secretary of
State and the appeal either upheld or dismissed. Alternatively or alongside this, the
applicant may have further engagement with Milton Keynes Council with regard to
the reason for refusal and a revised application may then be submitted for further
consideration seeking to address the reason for refusal; as the site has a considerable
remaining void space, there will inevitably be a need to address its final satisfactory
restoration if it cannot be completed in accordance with the timescale of the existing
permission, which seems unlikely, or any alternative scheme that may be brought
forward.

6.4

It is therefore considered that although the officer advice is that the development
within Buckinghamshire does not demonstrate a harm leading to a reason for
refusal, the sensible position for Buckinghamshire Council to take with regard to the
application within its area would be to delegate authority to approve the application
to the Service Director for Planning and Environment pending the outcome of any
appeal against the refusal of planning permission or any subsequent application that
may be brought forward to Milton Keynes Council. The applicant would have the
option to appeal against the non-determination of the application which would then
most likely lead to both applications being considered as part of the same appeal
process.

6.5

In writing this report due regard has been taken of the need to eliminate unlawful
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity
between different groups and foster good relations between different groups. It is
not however considered that any issues with regard thereto are raised in relation to
consideration of this application.

Working with the applicant / agent
7.1

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2019) the Council approach decisiontaking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development
proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure
developments. In this instance, the Buckinghamshire officer pointed out to the
applicant the need for an application to also be made to Buckinghamshire Council for
the two parts of the site within Buckinghamshire and has engaged with the applicant
thereafter, updating them on progress with the determination of the application.

Page 196

8.0

Recommendation
8.1 It is recommended that the Strategic Sites Committee INDICATE SUPPORT for
application no. CM/0018/20 and DELEGATES AUTHORITY to the Service Director for
Planning and Environment to grant planning permission subject to detailed conditions
to be finalised and subject first to any appeal against the refusal of planning permission
by Milton Keynes Council to application no. 20/00678/FULMMA being upheld (i.e.
permission being granted on appeal). Should any such appeal be dismissed or any
material variations affecting that part of the development in Buckinghamshire be made
to application no. CM/0018/20 then it shall be returned to the Strategic Sites
Committee for further consideration.

Page 197

APPENDIX A: Consultation Responses and Representations
Councillor Comments
No comments received.

Parish/Town Council Comments
Stoke Hammond Parish Council – In regards to consultation document CM/0018/20 regarding the
extension of the operational life of the Bletchley Landfill Site by 15 years, the Stoke Hammond
Parish Council have no comments other than to re-iterate as we have done previously, that all
lorries using the site to dispose of waste only use the bypass to enter and exit the landfill site and
under no circumstances should they use our village route. We trust this continues to be
acceptable.

Consultation Responses
Buckinghamshire Council Ecologist – satisfied that Milton Keynes Council ecologist will provide any
ongoing ecological advice.
Buckinghamshire Council Environmental Health Officer – no objections.
Buckinghamshire Council Lead Local Flood Authority – no comments as no surface water discharge
into Buckinghamshire area.
Buckinghamshire Council Policy team – the remaining void space is predominately within Milton
Keynes and the BMWLP does not include any capacity at the site within its capacity to meet future
needs and so it is not relied on in the Plan. During 2018 the site received 37,000 tonnes of waste,
the majority of which was inert material. This is a strategic movement but amounted to around 4%
of the total waste received at the site. If no new non-hazardous waste landfill capacity were
permitted capacity in the South East region would be depleted by 2039. It is estimated that the
remaining 10 million m3 of void space at the site is around a quarter of the remaining South East
capacity. Planning policy seeks the restoration of landfill sites at the earliest opportunity to high
environmental standards. The proposed 15 years extension is a long time but the reduction in
non-hazardous waste going to landfill means landfill sites are taking longer to reach the correct
levels for restoration. The extension of time and the amenity impacts on the surrounding
communities needs to be weighed against the significance of the amount of landfill capacity that
this site provides.
Buckinghamshire Council Rights of Way Officer – no objection subject to suggested
conditions/legal agreement to provide improved public access through a new dedicated public
bridleway across the site.
Milton Keynes Council – provided a holding objection. Has resolved to refuse planning permission
to the application for the development within the Milton Keynes council Area due to negative
impact on the amenity of the local community in the longer term. A further 15 years would be
Page 198

harmful to the relative enjoyment of the community. The associated postponement of the
restoration works would result in a loss of opportunity for the community to benefit for open
space recreation as originally agreed. The development is therefore contrary to policies D1, D5,
NE5 and NE6 of Plan: MK and Section 8 of the NPPF.
Environment Agency – no 0bjections.

Representations
Bletchley and Fenny Stratford Town Council
This is a statement made on behalf of Bletchley and Fenny Stratford Town Councillors and
approved by the majority of them. (In the current pandemic it has not been possible to approve a
response to the planning application via resolution at a formal Town Council meeting but
Members did not want to lose the opportunity to comment on the proposed application.) It is
hoped that Buckinghamshire Council will take this statement into consideration when determining
the application.

The Town Council is strongly opposed to this application and the parallel application submitted to
MK Council which together would potentially extend the operational life of the Bletchley landfill
site by a significant length of time and delay restoration of the landscape. We believe this is not a
planning compliant or sustainable development and the adverse impacts would far outweigh any
benefits to residents of the local area.

Reasons for objections to the variation of conditions:

i Environmental i.e. air quality and odour, pollution and flies

In recent years the unpleasant odours from the landfill site have been regularly discernible across
the whole of Bletchley at different times of year and are especially noisome in Newton Leys.
Based on this local experience over some years, it is difficult to have confidence that the problem
of odour can be mitigated to any satisfactory degree and previous experience must be taken into
account in evaluating any odour impact assessment referenced in the policy.

Regular infestations of flies and the congregation of different varieties of gulls in vast numbers on
and near the site have contributed to reduced amenity for residents in Newton Leys and Water
Eaton. Although the landfill site predates the housing development at Newton Leys the
application for continuation should be considered in the current context of the increased housing
built and being built not only at Newton Leys but also on the Lakes Estate and at Eaton Leys. All
these residents could continue to be affected for years to come by potential poor air quality and

Page 199

odour and the application does not have the support of the local community to the continuation
of use of the site.

ii Traffic movements, highways and road safety

Existing traffic movements along Jersey Drive to the landfill site already present a significant
hazard for the local community. The road is heavily used both by vehicles accessing the landfill
and by residents accessing homes and the local centre. The local centre is now well used for its
shops and other amenities but its revised position within the estate mean that most residents
access it by car. Jersey Drive also provides access to a well-used care home for the elderly.
Construction of housing in the areas nearest to the landfill site which will use the same road access
is now well underway and use of community facilities at Newton Leys Pavilion located near the
site has begun. Overall non landfill traffic movements are increasing.

According to the operator’s website there are between 200 and 250 vehicles visiting the site daily
to deposit waste. Vehicles waiting to access the landfill “stack up” on the side of Jersey Drive or
park alongside the local centre to use facilities. These very heavy goods vehicles parking on and
using Jersey Drive are unsuited to the local centre and now present a hazard in the changed
circumstances at Newton Leys. (Furthermore their frequent arrivals and departures contribute
further to the air pollution, noise and lack of amenity for residents mentioned above.)

iii Impact on biodiversity and sustainability

The majority of the Bletchley landfill site lies within the Milton Keynes Council’s area. Bletchley
and Fenny Stratford Town Council recognises and fully supports Milton Keynes Council’s
aspirations to reduce carbon emissions and promote biodiversity and sustainability as laid out in
Plan MK and reflected in the MK Futures 2050 Commission report and in other policy
statements made by the authority. By its nature any landfill site contributes to local
environmental pollution and damages biodiversity and sustainability however good any
mitigation measures. We object strongly to continued landfill activities which are not needed
by MKC residents and are not in conformity with the spirit of the Plan MK and the Council’s wellrehearsed commitments to biodiversity. We have noted that Buckinghamshire Council and its
predecessor authorities are also committed to tackling climate change and have put strategies
in place to reduce environmental impact of developments. The Buckinghamshire Minerals and
Waste Plan does not identify Bletchley Landfill as strategically important.
Given that both authorities have plans to reduce the use of landfill and reduce carbon emissions
the Bletchley landfill site is increasingly reliant on the importation of waste from other areas. This
will add to carbon emissions and journeys through the Buckinghamshire villages of Stoke
Hammond, Drayton Parslow, Stewkley and Soulbury. The emissions caused by these journeys
Page 200

together with the well-known adverse environmental impact of landfill on climate change and
biodiversity make the proposed longer life of the landfill site unacceptable to the Town Council.
40 comments have been received from members of the public raising the following reasons for
objection and concern summarised below:
i) significant harm to the amenity of residential areas, due to noise, traffic, pollution and odour;
ii) significant harm to wildlife including the delay caused to the creation of habitats through the
site’s restoration;
iii) unacceptable visual impact on the landscape;
iv) highway safety, traffic, parking, loading and turning;
v) incongruent with the Council's policy on biodiversity and sustainability
vi) Milton Keynes should not be an importer of rubbish where other authorities have sites within
their own area for disposal of rubbish;
vii) Residents of Newton Leys moved here on the understanding that the site would be completed
and restored by the current approved end dates. The ongoing operation of the site for the period
proposed would be to the significant detriment of the development of this community including
delay in improved public access to the restored site;
viii) Negative impact on property prices;
ix) Water pollution;
x) Litter;
xi) Flies;
xii) The site is not strategically important other than to the applicant/operator for taking waste
from other areas including London;
xiii) The site is of no benefit to the community including in terms of employment;
xiv) Maintaining the site as a landfill site does not contribute to moving the management of waste
up the waste hierarchy;
xv) CO2 emissions from ongoing landfilling of waste act against climate change and the council’s
aims of cutting emissions to neutral by 2030 and 2050.

Page 201

APPENDIX B: Site Location Plan

Page 202

